
































































































































































Notes 2018 2017 2016

OTHER INCOME
Gain from investment property revaluation unrealized 13 235,000,000               50,000,000            80,000,000               
Interest income 8, 9 14,725                        23,970                   19,083                       
Unrealized gain on foreign exchange, net 8, 23 125,631                      9,294                     118,989                    

Total Other Income 235,140,356               50,033,264            80,138,072               

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 25 7,440,754                   8,680,254              7,165,256                 

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 227,699,602               41,353,010            72,972,816               
TAX BENEFITS DEFERRED 16 99,916                        80,506                   (4,850,410)                

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 227,799,518               41,433,516            68,122,406               

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Remeasurements of retirement benefits payable, net of tax 18 98,581                        290,433                 (555,618)                   

Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 98,581                        290,433                 (555,618)                   

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 227,898,099               41,723,949            67,566,788               

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the parent 227,801,712               41,437,507            68,129,779               
Non-controlling interest 3, 26 (2,194)                         (3,991)                    (7,373)                       

227,799,518               41,433,516            68,122,406               

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the parent 227,900,293               41,727,940            67,574,161               
Non-controlling interest 3, 26 (2,194)                         (3,991)                    (7,373)                       

227,898,099               41,723,949            67,566,788               

EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Basic 3, 27 0.36                            0.07                       0.54                           
Diluted 3, 27 0.35                            0.06                       0.52                           

(See Notes to Financial Statements)

IMPERIAL RESOURCES, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(All amounts in Philippine Peso)
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016



SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized 1,800,000,000 shares at P1
par value per share 1,800,000,000         20

Issued and Subscribed 652,500,000 
shares at P1 par value per share 652,500,000            20

Subscription Receivable 15,936,454              20

Paid- up 636,563,546
shares at P1 par value per share 636,563,546            

Balance at January 1, 2016 633,813,110             163,915               (174,460,478)               (221,652)             459,294,894               
Transactions with owners:

Collection of subscription receivable 100,436                   -                         -                                 -                      100,436                        
Issuance of shares 2,500,000                -                         -                                 -                      2,500,000                     

Total transactions with owners 2,600,436              -                    -                             -                  2,600,436                
Total comprehensive income (loss):

Profit (Loss) for the year -                              -                         68,129,779                    (7,373)                 68,122,406                   
Other comprehensive loss for the year -                              (555,618)                -                                 -                      (555,618)                       

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year -                            (555,618)              68,129,779                  (7,373)                67,566,788                 
Balance at December 31, 2016 636,413,546             (391,703)              (106,330,699)               (229,025)             529,462,119               

Total comprehensive income (loss):
Profit (Loss) for the year -                              -                         41,437,507                    (3,991)                 41,433,516                   
Other comprehensive income for the year -                              290,433                 -                                 -                      290,433                        

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year -                            290,433               41,437,507                  (3,991)                41,723,949                 
Balance at December 31, 2017 636,413,546             (101,270)              (64,893,192)                 (233,016)             571,186,068               

Transaction with owners:
Collection of subscription receivable 150,000                   -                         -                                 -                      150,000                        

Total comprehensive income:
Profit (Loss) for the year -                              -                         227,801,712                  (2,194)                 227,799,518                 
Other comprehensive income for the year -                              98,581                   -                                 -                      98,581                          

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year -                            98,581                 227,801,712                (2,194)                227,898,099               
Balance at December 31, 2018 636,563,546             (2,689)                  162,908,520                (235,210)             799,234,167               

(See Notes to Financial Statements)

 Total Equity Share Capital
Retained Earnings 

(Deficit)

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent Entity

IMPERIAL RESOURCES, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN  EQUITY

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Equity 
Attributable to 

Equity Holders of 
the Non-

controlling Interest 
(Note 26)Note

Remeasurements 
on retirement 

benefits payable



Notes 2018 2017 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before provision for income tax 227,699,602                41,353,010            72,972,816          
Adjustments for:

Gain from investment property revaluation unrealized 13 (235,000,000)               (50,000,000)           (80,000,000)         
Accrual of taxes 396,964                       1,587,857              -                       
Accrual of retirement benefits expense 18 333,991                       277,194                 205,363               
Depreciation 12, 22, 25 20,547                         177,531                 189,109               
Impairment loss on investment in AFS 11 -                                6,910                     -                       
Loss on derecognition of property and equipment 12 -                                -                        3,000                    
Unrealized gain on foreign exchange, net 8, 23 (125,631)                      (9,294)                    (118,989)              
Interest income 8 (14,725)                        (23,970)                  (19,083)                

Operating loss before working capital changes (6,689,252)                   (6,630,762)             (6,767,784)           
Decrease (Increase) in:

Other receivables 73,140                         (82,769)                  (27,171)                
Prepayments (1,304)                          (11,632)                  9,010                    

Increase (Decrease) in:
Accruals and other payables  (94,101)                        137,444                 (76,679)                

Cash used in operations (6,711,517)                   (6,587,719)             (6,862,624)           
Income tax paid (2,660)                          (2,167)                    (444)                     
Interest received 8 14,725                         23,970                    19,083                  

Net cash used in operating activities (6,699,452)                   (6,565,916)             (6,843,985)           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY
Acquisition of property and equipment 12 -                                    (5,900)                    (9,800)                  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Collection of subscription 20 150,000                       -                        100,436               
Increase in advances from shareholders 19 7,279,000                    6,233,000              7,161,000            

Net cash provided by financing activities 7,429,000                    6,233,000              7,261,436            

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH 8, 23 125,631                       9,294                     118,989               

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 855,179                       (329,522)                526,640               
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, January 1 8 2,613,767                    2,943,289              2,416,649            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, December 31 8 3,468,946                    2,613,767              2,943,289            

(See Notes to Financial Statements)

IMPERIAL RESOURCES, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(All amounts in Philippine Peso)



 

1 
 

IMPERIAL RESOURCES, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

As at and for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 
(All amounts in Philippine Peso unless otherwise stated) 

 
 
NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Imperial Resources, Incorporated (Parent Entity) was incorporated in the Philippines and registered 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) per Registration No. 39243 on September 5, 
1969. The primary purpose of the Parent Entity is to carry on the business of operating coal mines, and 
of prospecting, exploration and of mining, milling, concentrating, converting, smelting, treating, 
refining, preparing for market, manufacturing, buying, selling, exchanging, and otherwise producing, 
and dealing in all kinds of ores, metals and minerals, asphalt-bithumen, hydrocarbons, acids and 
chemicals, and in the products and by-products of every kind and description and by whatsoever 
process, the same can be or may hereafter be produced; to purchase, lease, option, locate or otherwise 
acquire, own, exchange, sell, or otherwise dispose of, pledge, mortgage, deed in trust, hypothecate, 
and deal in mines, mining claims, mineral lands, coal lands, timber lands, water and water rights, other 
property, both real and personal. 
 
The Parent Entity holds 99% interest in Philippine Cyber College Corporation (PCC), its only 
subsidiary, with principal place of business at 82-J 4th Street, Barangay Mariana, New Manila, Quezon 
City. PCC was registered with the SEC on May 30, 2000 per Registration No. A20007650 to own, 
operate, manage and maintain a school of learning, offering, kindergarten or pre-school training, as 
well as primary, secondary and tertiary levels of school instructions and to develop and educate 
students in accordance with approved curriculum prescribed by the government, and in connection 
therewith, to obtain the required permits and government recognition for the operation of said 
educational institution and the authority to confer certificates of completion/graduation and/or 
diploma; further, to own, lease and acquire the use and possession of land for school campus, school 
buildings and properties for school facilities. PCC had management and technical agreement with two 
(2) I.T. learning centers located in Baguio and Malolos, Bulacan. However, in June 2008 the two (2) 
learning centers temporarily suspended their operations. Management had decided to shift from I.T. 
education project to technical vocational education, training and assessment project. Since the latter 
part of 2009 PCC’s operations has remained suspended. 
 
During the special meeting of the Board of Directors held on March 29, 2011, it was resolved that the 
change of par value of the shares of stock of the Parent Entity from Five Pesos (P5.00) to One Peso 
(P1.00) per share, was approved and thereafter ratified. Consequently, on July 14, 2011, on the regular 
annual stockholders' meeting, the same has been confirmed and ratified. 
   
On October 2, 2013, a special meeting of the Board of Directors was called to consider, among other 
matters, the amendment of the Articles of Incorporation, specifically the articles pertaining to the 
change of name of the Parent Entity to Century Sun Services, Inc. which was already approved by the 
Board of Directors and reserved with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Also, a 
proposal was raised for the amendment of the purpose of the Parent Entity. It was also proposed that 
the corporate term be extended for another fifty (50) years. Finally, another proposal was submitted to 
increase the authorized capital stock from One Billion Eight Hundred Million Pesos (P1,800,000,000) 
up to Six Billion Pesos (P6,000,000,000). Upon motions made and duly seconded, the proposed 
amendments were unanimously approved by the Board of Directors. On July 10, 2014, on the regular 
annual stockholders’ meeting, the same had been confirmed and ratified. As of December 31, 2018, 
the Company’s management has not implemented this. 
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During the special meeting of the Board of Directors held on March 28, 2016 the declassification of 
the shares of stock of Parent entity from common Class “A” and Class “B” shares to common stock 
voting shares was approved. This was subsequently confirmed and ratified by the stockholders during 
the regular annual stockholders’ meeting held on July 14, 2016. 
 
The change of par value and the declassification of shares were approved by SEC on February 10, 
2017 and implemented by Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on February 22, 2017. 
  
The Parent Entity and its Subsidiary have eight (8) employees as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 
2016. 
 
The Parent Entity and its Subsidiary’s principal place of business is at Unit 202 Villa Building, No. 78 
Jupiter Street corner Makati Avenue, Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City, Metro Manila, the business 
address is at 82-J 4th Street, Barangay Mariana, New Manila, Quezon City and the registered office is at 
3762-C Cuenca corner Emilia Streets, Barangay Palanan, Makati City, Metro Manila.   
 
These financial statements have been approved and authorized for issuance by Mr. Desiderio L. 
Laperal, CEO/President, on behalf of the Board of Directors on April 6, 2019. 
 
NOTE 2 - STATUS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Parent Entity 
 
Since 2005, the Parent Entity has been evaluating mining projects. It has narrowed down the 
prospective mining properties to gold mining, asphalt mining and energy. In September 2008, the 
Parent Entity made a deposit amounting to P7,090,500 (US$150,000) to acquire mining rights in 
Indonesia. 
 
In January 2009, the Parent Entity signed a Memorandum of Agreement with P.T. Asphal Buton 
Nasional, an entity organized and existing under the laws of Indonesia which was granted mining 
rights covering 1,940 hectares of Mining Exploration Concession located at Buton Island, South East 
Sulawesi Province, Indonesia. With the deposit amounting to P7,090,500 made by the Company to the 
said Indonesian entity in 2008, the Parent Entity was granted the exclusive rights of exploration, 
exploitation, development and operation of the above-described mining concessions during its lifetime 
and over such additional future mining concessions that P.T. Asphal Buton Nasional may acquire or 
be awarded.  
 
During 2009, the Parent Entity conducted geologic and geophysical (Electric Resistivity) surveys on 
the approximately two hundred (200) hectares and one thousand seven hundred (1,700) hectares, all 
located in Buton Island, Southwest of Sulawesi Province, Indonesia.  
 
The two (2) asphalt concessions were expiring during the second half of 2011. However, because of 
the significant geophysical electric resistivity survey conducted and which were arranged by the 
business associate, Aspal Buton Nasional, and funded by the former, the Parent Entity was able to 
obtain approval for extension of the exploration concession for additional period of two (2) years. In 
2014-2016, approval for extension of the exploration concession were obtained. 
 
In December 2009, the Parent Entity made a deposit of P4,705,000 (US$100,000) to PT. Indominas to 
acquire other mining rights in Indonesia which was subsequently charged to exploration and 
evaluation assets during the year as a signature bonus. 
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On January 17, 2010, the Parent Entity signed a Memorandum of Agreement with PT. Indominas, an 
Indonesian Company duly organized and existing under the laws of the Republic of Indonesia, with 
principal office address at JL. Klampis Anom II/29, Surabaya, Indonesia (referred to as Claimowners). 
After January 17, 2010, the Claimowners expect to be granted Mining Rights by the government state 
corporation Perusahaan Daerah (Perusda) Pd. Utama Sultra of South East Sulawesi of the Republic of 
Indonesia, covering an approximate 4,779 hectares mining exploration concession at South East 
Sulawesi Province of the Republic of Indonesia. The Claimowners granted the Parent Entity the 
exclusive rights to do preliminary studies before choosing the area to be developed. If the results of the 
studies are favorable, the Parent Entity shall pay another US$170,000 upon approval of the conversion 
of the selected areas into exploration concession. Within thirty (30) days after the Claimowners shall 
have obtained and delivered to the Parent Entity all government approvals, permits, extensions and 
licenses, the Parent Entity at the sole expense shall start geological and geophysical surveys on the 
mining concessions for the purpose of determining the potentials for commercial operations, 
development and exploitation of the above-mentioned mining concessions. At the end of 2010, 
preliminary studies on the said area have not been completed. 
 
The preliminary geologic survey on the proposed subject area indicated possible deposits. Outside and 
a bit far from the subject area, there are many gold panners. The Parent Entity is also evaluating the 
peace and order situation in the area. After evaluating several factors the Parent Entity will have a 
better total picture on the business prospects of the gold mining project. 
 
In August 2010, the Parent Entity furnished the samples of rocks gathered from the survey made in 
Indonesia to Toyo - Union Co., Ltd. (TUCL) and expressed an intention to have a business association 
with them, subject to some terms and conditions, including confidentiality and exclusivity rights 
reserved for the Parent Entity. TUCL recognized and respect the exclusive rights of the Parent Entity 
and have entered into a memorandum of agreement with the Parent Entity on September 13, 2010. 
During 2011, the engineers and geologist of TUCL together with the engineers from Asphal Buton 
Nasional were able to go to the asphalt concession areas and collected about sixty (60) kilos of 
samples and TUCL was able to bring samples to Tokyo. As of date, the Parent Entity has no 
agreement with TUCL. 
 
On March 16, 2017, in the special meeting of the Board of Directors, it was resolved that while the 
Parent Entity is proceeding with caution and at the same time re-evaluating its Indonesian mining 
project owing to the precipitous fall in the world price of crude, the Parent Entity is at present inclined 
to pursue the said project for that reason the Indonesian partners have been continuously looking for 
foreign partners to invest capital needed after they have secured formal approval of the exploitation 
concession because of its viability. Furthermore, the Parent Entity has been studying and evaluating a 
project cost study submitted by a project proponent pertaining to silica sand quarrying and processing 
operation. The Parent Entity is aware of the increasing demand for flat glass and glass bottles by local 
glass manufacturing companies.  Management has been evaluating the impact of the latest 
environmental policies, regulations and pronouncements made by various government agencies on the 
feasibility and sustainability of the project. Another important factor being considered by management 
is the peace and order situation in the prospective silica mining sites. Towards this end, the Laperal 
family and LTC Real Estate Corporation committed to support and fund the said projects.  
 
In 2018 the President, Desiderio L. Laperal travelled to Europe for preliminary discussions and 
observation of IT-based business applications related to remote sensing of marine and land resources, 
land-use, and community development. President Laperal observed driver-less autonomous farm 
machinery, robotic steel fabrication and remote-controlled fisheries management systems. He was 
impressed with the Green Energy initiatives mandated by the European Union, which is meant to 



 

4 
 

encourage more reliance on renewable power such as air turbines, hydro and solar. All of these 
applications and the downstream business opportunities are relevant to Imperial Resources. 
 
Subsidiary 
 
Until the middle of 2008, the Subsidiary was engaged in the business of Information Technology (I. 
T.) - Education. Educational facilities are located in Baguio and Malolos, Bulacan, each with an 
enrollment of 40-60 students and class-sizes limited to about 15 students. All potential students 
undergo rigorous online entrance exams to ensure high quality students. The school’s objective is to 
produce a small number of extremely high quality graduates each year. The educational facility 
located in Malolos had a “Joint Livelihood Project” with the Provincial Government of Bulacan which 
was formally terminated in May 2007. The school transferred to another location in Malolos, Bulacan 
in time for June 2007 school enrollment. However, in June 2008 the two (2) learning centers 
temporarily suspended their operations and remain as such up to the present. 
 
Management has decided to shift from I.T. education project to technical-vocational education, 
training and assessment project. Management believes in the value of education, hence, this new 
project is the Subsidiary’s answer to government’s call to help stimulate economic growth through 
productive employment. The Subsidiary is aware of the global need and the lack of highly skilled 
welders, pipe filters and other allied skills in the construction business. With this new venture, the 
Subsidiary hopes to provide a relevant training system that can fully prepare the manpower with the 
correct skills needed in the rapidly modernizing economies.  
 
It has secured a property lease in Pasay City, as the site of the education and training facility, for five 
(5) years commencing on April 1, 2008. The monthly rental is ten percent (10%) of the gross tuition, 
matriculation, and students’ miscellaneous fees from July 1, 2009 up to July 31, 2013. The 
preparation, construction and renovation works on the education and training facility started in March 
2008. For the techno vocational project, the Subsidiary engaged the services of its administrator in 
March 2008. Two (2) employees were hired in June 2008 to assist the administrator.  
 
The training center, in cooperation with the PGMA Scholarship of Technical Education and Skills 
Development Authority (TESDA), conducted its operations from February to July 2009. In August, 
TESDA temporarily cut its PGMA Scholarship Program which is the mainstay of welding schools in 
sustaining their operations. Because the Subsidiary failed to obtain marketing agreements to provide 
welding training for maritime placement companies’ recruits, the management of the Parent Entity has 
been mulling over the idea of phasing off this techno-vocational project to concentrate on its more 
financially promising mining project. 
 
For the years 2008 and 2007 (and prior years), there were no material sources of revenue. It was only 
in 2009 that it generated revenue from tuition fees for its techno-vocational project. However, as 
discussed above, operations have been hampered due to temporary cessation of the PGMA 
Scholarship Program of TESDA. The Subsidiary incurred net losses of P0.21 million, P0.39 million 
and P0.73 million for the years 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Due to the losses incurred, the 
Subsidiary has capital deficiency amounting to P23.52 million, P23.30 million and P22.90 million as 
at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  
 
For the past years, the Parent Entity has rendered continuous support to the Subsidiary by providing 
the necessary funds when the need arises. 
 
On March 20, 2013, at the meeting of the Management Committee, wherein, all members who were 
also directors were present and representing majority of the members of the Board of Directors 
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unanimously resolved and approved the dormancy status of Philippine Cyber College Corporation 
(PCC) due to its non-operation since 2010 and because of the significant losses incurred by the 
Subsidiary. As at December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Capital Deficiency amounted to P20.90 
million, P20.03 million, and P18.76 million.  
 
In 2015, the Subsidiary has entertained inquiries or proposals to lease its building in Baguio City. 
Consequently, the Subsidiary has changed its basis of accounting from liquidation basis to going-
concern basis. 
 
In 2016, an interested party proposed to rent the building to be used as its marketing office for Thirty 
Five Thousand Pesos (P35,000.00) per month. On March 16, 2017, at the special meeting of the Board 
of Directors, it was resolved that the Vice-Chairman and Vice-President, is authorized and empowered 
to negotiate, transact, conclude, execute and sign, for and in behalf of the Subsidiary, agreements or 
contracts for the lease of the property in Baguio as well as to deliver such necessary records, 
documents or papers pertinent to or in implementation thereof. It was resolved further that the same 
person is authorized and empowered to agree on the terms, conditions and stipulations, and the price 
of the lease, for the best interest of the Subsidiary. However, due to the change of marketing plans of 
the prospective lessee the lease agreement was not finalized. Early in 2018 an interested party made an 
offer to lease the building to be used as a primary school for Forty Thousand Pesos (P40,000) per 
month. However, the negotiation bogged down. 
 
Despite the presence of the caretaker to prevent informal settlers to enter and use their property as their 
dwelling place, in 2013, management decided to allow Philippine National Internal Affairs Services 
(PNP-IAS) to use portion of the ground floors as its office for free. During the latter part of 2018, the 
PNP-IAS moved out of the property. Management plans soonest to have the building repaired and 
repainted in order to better attract potential lessees considering its good location. Accordingly, the 
Company continuously reports under going-concern basis of accounting.  
 
Commitment of support of shareholders 
 
In the previous years, Mr. Oliverio G. Laperal Sr., the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s former President, 
and other major shareholders have committed to support and to fund the ongoing and new projects, 
and assured the continuous operations of the Parent and Subsidiary’s. 
 
In 2007, as a sign of support and commitment, the President paid in full his subscription of P400 
million to increase the capital stock of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary (from P700 million to P1.8 
billion) by executing a deed of assignment of a real estate property in favor of the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary. The transfer certificate of title of the said property was issued in the name of Imperial 
Resources, Incorporated on September 3, 2007 per TCT N-307207 issued by the Register of Deeds of 
Quezon City. Aside from the subscription of P400 million paid for in real estate property, cash 
advances amounting to P8.89 million, P4.5 million and P915 thousand were received from the former 
President for the years 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The shareholders have paid their unpaid 
subscription amounting to P150,000 and P100,436 for the years 2018 and 2016, respectively. 
 
As discussed in Note 2, the Laperal family and LTC Real Estate Corporation committed to support 
and fund the said projects. LTC Real Estate Corporation, a shareholder, had provided cash advances 
amounting to P7,279,000, P6,233,000 and P6,113,625 (Note 19) for the years ended December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Given the financial condition of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary, 
the shareholders do not demand immediate repayment of their advances to the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary. 
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NOTE 3 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below to facilitate understanding of the data presented in the consolidated 
financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. 
 
3.1 Basis of preparation and statement of compliance 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). The term PFRS in general includes all applicable 
PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and interpretations of the Philippine Interpretations 
Committee (PIC), Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) which have been approved by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council (FRSC) and adopted by the SEC. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention 
except for certain assets measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Philippine Peso, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s functional currency. 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in the process 
of applying the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgment, complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 5. 
 
Basis of Consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements consist of the financial statements of Parent Entity and its 
Subsidiary as at and for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. The financial statements 
of the Subsidiary are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Entity using consistent 
accounting policies. 
 
Subsidiary 
 
Subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by another entity. Control is when the latter is exposed, or has 
rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the Subsidiary. 
 
The Parent Entity has the power to govern the financial reporting policies generally accompanying a 
shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights of the Subsidiary. The Parent Entity obtains 
and exercises control through voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable and convertible are considered when assessing whether the Parent Entity controls 
another company. Consolidation begins from the date the Parent Entity obtains control of the 
Subsidiary and ceases when it loses control.  
 
All intragroup balances, income and expenses and unrealized gains and losses from intragroup 
transactions are eliminated in full. 
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Non-controlling Interest 
 
Non-controlling interest represents the portion of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and 
the net assets not held by the Parent Entity and are presented separately in the consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, 
separately from the equity holders of the Parent Entity. Transactions with non-controlling interest are 
accounted for using the entity concept method, whereby the difference between the consideration and 
the book value of the share of the net assets acquired is recognized as an equity transaction. 
 
3.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 
  
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are 
consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following new and 
amended standards and interpretations, which became effective beginning January 1, 2018. The 
adoption of these new and amended standards and interpretations did not have significant impact on 
the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial statements. 
 
3.2.1 New standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretation effective in the current year 
and are relevant to the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s operations 
 
 PFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments – In July 2014, the final version of PFRS 9 was issued. 

PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of PFRS 9. The standard 
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge 
accounting. 
 

The Parent Entity and Subsidiary applied PFRS 9 prospectively, with an initial application date of 
January 1, 2018. The Parent Entity and Subsidiary has not restated the comparative information, which 
continues to be reported under PAS 39.  
 
The effect of adopting PFRS 9 is as follows: 

Increase (Decrease) in statements of
       financial position Adjustments

As at January 
1, 2018

Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS) (a) (80,000)          
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) (a) 80,000            

-                 
 
The nature of these adjustments is described below: 
 
a) Classification and measurement 
 
Under PFRS 9, there is a change in the classification and measurement requirements relating to 
financial assets. Previously, there were four (4) categories of financial assets: FVPL, held-to-maturity 
(HTM) investments, AFS financial assets, and loans and receivables. PFRS 9 requires that the Parent 
Entity and Subsidiary classifies debt instruments based on the contractual cash flow characteristics of 
the assets and the business model for managing those assets. These factors determine whether the 
financial assets are measured at amortized cost, FVOCI, or FVPL. 
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The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s debt instruments financial assets consist of cash and cash 
equivalents, other receivables and refundable deposit. The Parent Entity and Subsidiary assessed that 
the contractual cash flows of its debt financial assets are solely payments of principal and interest 
(SPPI) and are expected to be held to collect all contractual cash flows until their maturity. As a result, 
the Parent Entity and Subsidiary concluded these debt instruments financial assets to be measured at 
amortized cost. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary elected to classify irrevocably its quoted equity investments 
previously classified as AFS financial assets under equity instruments designated at FVOCI as it 
intends to hold these investments for the foreseeable future (Note 11).  
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary continued measuring at fair value all financial assets previously held 
at fair value under PAS 39. 
 
The adoption of PFRS 9 did not result to changes to the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities. All of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial liabilities are classified and measured at 
amortized costs. 
 
A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under PAS 39 to the balances reported under PFRS 9 
as of January 1, 2018, is as follows: 

 
b) Impairment 
 
The adoption of PFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s accounting for 
impairment losses for financial assets by replacing PAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-
looking Estimated Credit Loss (ECL) approach. PFRS 9 requires the Parent Entity and Subsidiary to 
recognize an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at FVPL. 
 
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Parent Entity and Subsidiary expects to receive. 
 
Parent Entity and Subsidiary assessed that there is no impairment loss to be recognized on its debt 
instruments financial assets not held at FVPL due to the adoption of PFRS 9.  
 
 PFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers – This new standard replaces the following 

standards and interpretations: (a) PAS 11, Construction Contract; (b) PAS 18, Revenue; (c) IFRIC 
13, Customer Loyalty Programmes; (d) IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; 
(e) IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers; and (f) PIC 31, Revenue - Barter transaction 
Involving Advertising Services. The main change is that, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary will 
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. This includes the use of five-step model framework to account for revenue 



 

9 
 

arising from contracts with customers. Application of this framework will depend on the facts and 
circumstances present in a contract with a customer and will require the exercise of judgment. 
 

 Amendments to PFRS 15, Clarifications to PFRS 15 – The amendments clarify the concept of 
‘distinct’ in identifying performance obligations. It also clarifies how to assess control depending 
whether the Parent Entity and Subsidiary is a principal or an agent. The amendments also provide 
guidelines on licensing and some transition relief for modified contracts or completed contracts.  

 
PFRS 15 and amendments to PFRS 15 have no impact on the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial 
statements since the Parent Entity and Subsidiary is still in the exploration stages and evaluation of 
mineral resources of the mining project and has no product to sell. 
 
 Amendments to PAS 40, Transfers of Investment Property – The amendments clarify that to 

transfer to, or from, investment properties there must be a change in use. To conclude if a property 
has changed use there should be an assessment of whether the property meets the definition. This 
change must be supported by evidence. A change in intention, in isolation, is not enough to 
support a transfer. 

 
The amendments have no impact on the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial statements since there 
was no change in use of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s investment property. 
 
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration – 

The interpretation clarifies the accounting for transactions that include the receipt or payment of 
advance consideration in a foreign currency. It covers foreign currency transactions when an entity 
recognizes a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of 
advance consideration before the entity recognizes the related asset, expense or income. It does not 
apply when an entity measures the related asset, expense or income on initial recognition at fair 
value or at the fair value of the consideration received or paid at a date other than the date of initial 
recognition of the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability. Also, the interpretation needs not 
be applied to income taxes, insurance contracts or reinsurance contracts. 

 
The interpretation has no impact on the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial statements. 
 
3.2.2 New standards, amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective in the current year 
but are relevant to the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s operations 
 
These are new PFRS, revisions, amendments to existing standards, annual improvements and 
interpretations that are effective for periods subsequent to December 31, 2018 and are relevant to the 
Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s operations, however, the adoption are not expected to have significant 
impact on the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial statements: 
 
Effective in 2019: 
 
 PFRS 16 Leases – This new standard replaces the following standards and interpretations: (a) PAS 

17, Leases; (b) IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; (c) SIC-15, 
Operating Leases – Incentives; and (d) SIC-27, Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The biggest change is that Lessees do not need to classify 
the lease at its inception and determine whether it's finance or operating lease. The standard 
introduces new accounting model for all leases. A lessee shall recognize a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability, except for leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and containing no purchase 
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options and leases where the underlying asset has a low value when new (such as personal 
computers or small items of office furniture). Early application is permitted but the Parent Entity 
and Subsidiary opted not to early adopt the standard. 
 

The new standard will have no impact on the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial statements since 
the term of lease agreements is not more than twelve (12) months. 

 
 Amendments to PAS 19 (Revised), Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement –The 

amendments specify that when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs during the 
annual reporting period, an entity is required to (a) determine current service cost for the 
remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement, using the actuarial 
assumptions used to remeasure the net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits 
offered under the plan and the plan assets after that event; and (b) determine net interest for the 
remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using: the net defined 
benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after that 
event; and the discount rate used to remeasure that net defined benefit liability (asset). 

 
The amendments also clarify that an entity first determines any past service cost, or a gain or loss 
on settlement, without considering the effect of the asset ceiling. This amount is recognized in 
profit or loss. An entity then determines the effect of the asset ceiling after the plan amendment, 
curtailment or settlement. Any change in that effect, excluding amounts included in the net 
interest, is recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 

The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting these amendments. 
 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – This interpretation 
provides requirements on how to reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes. 
 

The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this interpretation. 
 
Effective in 2020: 
 
 Amendments to PFRS 3, Definition of a Business – The amendments narrowed and clarified the 

definition of a business. They also permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of 
activities and assets is a group of assets rather than a business. 
 

 Amendments to PAS 1 and PAS 8, Definition of Material – The amendments revised the 
definition of material. Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could 
reasonably be expected to influence the decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial 
information about a specific reporting entity. 

 
3.3 Financial instruments 
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
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3.3.1 Classification 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary classify financial assets and liabilities according to the categories 
described below. Management determines the classification of the financial assets and liabilities at 
initial recognition. 
 
3.3.1.1 Financial assets 
 
The classification of financial assets depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s business model for managing them. The Parent 
Entity and Subsidiary classify financial assets in the following categories:   
 
a. Financial assets at amortized cost 
 

Financial assets at amortized cost are debt instruments where contractual terms give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding and held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial assets classified under this category consist of cash 
and cash equivalents, other receivables and refundable deposit. 

 
b. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI comprise: 
 
 Debt instruments where contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and are held 
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows and selling financial instruments. 

 
 Equity instruments which are not held for trading and which the Parent and Subsidiary has 

irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognize in this category. This election is made on 
an instrument-by-instrument basis. 
 

The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial asset under this category consists of investment in 
stocks quoted in active market. The Parent Entity and Subsidiary elected to measure it at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. 

 
c. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, 
financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial 
assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for 
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, 
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely 
payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be 
classified at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may 
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be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or 
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.  

 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary has no financial assets under this category. 

 
3.3.1.2 Financial Liabilities 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary classify financial liabilities in the following categories: 
 
a. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered 
into by the Parent Entity and Subsidiary that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge 
relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary has no financial liabilities under this category. 

 
b. Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
 

Financial liabilities that are not classified as at fair value through profit or loss fall into this category 
and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. They contain contract obligations to deliver cash or 
another financial asset to the holder or to settle the obligation other than exchange of a fixed amount 
of cash. They are included in current liabilities, except for maturities greater than twelve (12) months 
after the reporting period which are classified in non-current liabilities. 

 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial liabilities classified under this category consist of 
accruals and other payables (except payable to government agencies) and advances from shareholders 
 
3.3.2 Recognition and measurement 
 
a. Initial recognition and measurement 

 
Except for trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component which are 
measured at the transaction price, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary initially measures a financial 
asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial 
liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. 
 
If the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability at initial recognition differs from the 
transaction price, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary shall recognize the difference as a gain or loss. 
 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date, e.g., the date 
on which the Parent Entity and Subsidiary commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
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b. Subsequent measurement 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method 
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognized, modified or impaired. 
 
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and 
impairment losses or reversals are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the 
same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes 
are recognized in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in OCI is 
recycled to profit or loss. 
 
For equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI, gains and losses are never recycled to 
profit or loss. Dividends are recognized as income when the right of payment has been established, 
except when the Company benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the 
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at 
fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment. 
 
Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of 
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognized in the profit or loss. 
 
Other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate 
amortization is included as finance costs in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
3.3.3 Derecognition  
 
3.3.3.1 Financial assets 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary shall derecognize a financial asset only when: 
 

(a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets have expired, or 
(b) the Parent Entity and Subsidiary transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the financial assets, or 
(c) the Parent Entity and Subsidiary, despite having retained some significant risks and 

rewards of ownership, has transferred control of the asset to another party and the other 
party has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and 
is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without needing to impose additional 
restrictions on the transfer. In this case, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary shall: 

(i) derecognize the asset, and 
(ii) recognize separately any rights and obligations retained or created in the 

transfer. 
 
The carrying amount of the transferred asset shall be allocated between the rights or obligations 
retained and those transferred on the basis of their relative fair values at the transfer date. Newly 
created rights and obligations shall be measured at their fair values at that date. Any difference 
between the consideration received and the amounts recognized and derecognized in accordance with 
this paragraph shall be recognized in profit or loss in the period of the transfer. 
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3.3.3.2 Financial liabilities 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary shall derecognize a financial liability (or a part of a financial 
liability) only when it is extinguished, i.e., when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or has expired.    
 
3.3.4 Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all 
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between 
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Parent 
Entity and Subsidiary expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective 
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other 
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 
 
ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from 
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (12-month ECL). For those credit exposures 
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance 
is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing 
of the default (lifetime ECL). 
 
For receivables that do not contain significant financing component, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary 
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Parent Entity 
and Subsidiary does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on 
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Parent Entity and Subsidiary has established a provision 
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 
 
For financial assets at amortized costs being individually assessed for ECLs, the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary applied lifetime ECL calculation. This involves determination of probability of default and 
loss-given default based on available data, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors 
and the economic environment. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary considers a financial asset to be in default when a counterparty fails 
to pay its contractual obligations, or there is a breach of other contractual terms, such as covenants. In 
certain cases, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary may also consider a financial asset to be in default when 
internal or external information indicates that the Parent Entity and Subsidiary is unlikely to receive 
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by 
the Parent Entity and Subsidiary. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 
 
3.3.5 Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 
statements of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, wherein the related 
assets and liabilities are presented at gross in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
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3.3.6 Fair value of financial instruments 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
The fair value of a non-financial asset is measured based on its highest and best use. The asset’s current 
use is presumed to be its highest and best use. 
 
The fair value of financial and non-financial liabilities takes into account non-performance risk, which 
is the risk that the entity will not fulfill an obligation. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is 
determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions 
and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. 
 
For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate 
valuation techniques.  Such techniques may include: 

 Using recent arm’s length market transactions, 

 Reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, and 

 A discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. 
 
3.3.7 Fair value hierarchy 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has 
the following levels: 

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, 

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair 
value are observable, either directly or indirectly, and  

 
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that 
are not based on observable market data. 

 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the 
reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from 
an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.  
  
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques 
maximize the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity 
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the 
instrument is included in Level 2.  
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If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is 
included in Level 3. Specific valuation technique used to value these financial instruments is 
discounted cash flow analysis.   
 
3.4 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash, which includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks and carried in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at face value, are unrestricted and immediately available-for-use in the 
current operations.  
 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid debt instruments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with original maturities of three (3) months or less from date of placement and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
3.5 Other receivables 
 
Other receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method, less allowance and provision for impairment. 
 
3.6 Prepayments 
 
Prepayments include advance payment for insurance, membership dues and subscription. These 
represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash. Prepayments are initially recorded as 
assets and measured at the amount of cash paid. Subsequently, these are charged to income as these 
are consumed in operations or expire with the passage of time.  
 
3.7 Investment in stocks 
 
Upon initial recognition, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary can elect to classify irrevocably its equity 
investments as equity instruments designated at FVOCI when they meet the definition of equity under 
PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined 
on an instrument-by-instrument basis. 
 
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the statement of income. Dividends are 
recognized as other income in the statement of income when the right of payment has been established, 
except when the Parent Entity and Subsidiary benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the 
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated 
at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary elected to classify irrevocably its quoted equity securities under this 
category which are presented as Investment in stocks in the statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2018,  2017 and 2016 (Note 11). Prior to adoption of PFRS 9, this financial asset was 
classified as AFS financial assets. 
 
AFS financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as 
available-for-sale or are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Certain shares held by the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary are being classified as available-for-sale and are stated at fair value. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are recognized directly in other comprehensive income, until the 
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investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income is included in profit or loss for the period. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially measured at transaction price and subsequently 
measured at fair value. 
 
3.8 Property and equipment, net  
 
Property and equipment, except land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment in value. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable costs of 
bringing the assets to working condition for its intended use. Cost also includes the cost of replacing 
part of such property and equipment when the recognition criteria are met. 
 
Subsequent expenditures relating to an item of property and equipment that have already been 
recognized are added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that the future economic 
benefits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to 
the Parent Entity and Subsidiary. All subsequent expenditures are recognized as expense in the period 
in which those are incurred. 
 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of the related 
assets as follows: 
 
                                      Asset life in years 
 
 Building      15 
 Transportation equipment      5 
 Welding equipment       5  
 Office equipment       3  
    Office furniture and fixture          3  
 
The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting period to ensure that these are 
consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 
  
Depreciation of an item of property and equipment begins when it becomes available for use, i.e., 
when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. Depreciation ceases at the earlier of the date that the item is classified as 
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) in accordance with 
PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, and the date the asset is 
derecognized. 
 
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost, related 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses are removed from the accounts and the 
resulting gain or loss, which is determined by comparing the proceeds with carrying amount, is 
recognized to the statements of comprehensive income. Fully depreciated assets are retained in the 
accounts until they are no longer in use. 
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3.9 Investment property 
 
This account represents parcel of land which is initially carried at cost. Cost includes the acquisition 
cost of the land plus incidental costs incurred in effecting the transfer of title of the property and other 
necessary expenses incurred in the acquisition. 
 
Investment property is property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for: 
 

(a) use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes, or 
(b) sale in the ordinary course of business. 

 
Investment property is recognized as an asset when and only when: (a) it is probable that the future 
economic benefits that are associated with the investment property will flow to the entity, and (b) the 
cost of the investment property can be measured reliably. 
 
After initial recognition, investment property is measured either by the fair value model or by the cost 
model and shall apply that policy to all of its investment property. Investment property is derecognized 
upon disposal or when permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected 
from its disposal. Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is 
recognized in the statements of comprehensive income in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 
If investment property is measured at fair value, the fair value of investment property shall reflect 
market conditions at the reporting date. A gain or loss arising from the change in the fair value of 
investment property shall be recognized in profit or loss for the period in which it arises. 
 
Fair value of investment property is the price at which the property could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 
 
If investment property is measured at cost, it shall be carried at its cost less accumulated depreciation, 
amortization and any impairment in value. The cost of a purchased investment property comprises its 
purchase price and any directly attributable expenditure. The directly attributable expenditure includes, 
for example, professional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes and other transaction costs. 
 
If the Parent Entity and Subsidiary has previously measured an investment property at fair value, it 
shall continue to measure the property at fair value until disposal (or until the property becomes 
owner-occupied property or the Parent Entity and Subsidiary begin to develop the property for 
subsequent sale in the ordinary course of business) even if comparable market transactions become 
less frequent or market prices become less readily available. 
 
3.10 Exploration and evaluation assets 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost. The following are expenditures that are 
included in the initial measurement of exploration and evaluation assets (a) acquisition of rights to 
explore, (b) topographical, geological, geochemical and geophysical studies, (c) exploratory drilling, 
(d) trenching, (e) sampling, and (f) activities in relation to evaluating the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource. After initial recognition, the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary shall either use the cost model or the revaluation model. If the revaluation model is applied, 
it shall be consistent with the classification of assets. The exploration and evaluation assets are 
classified as tangible or intangible. When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of 
extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets are reclassified to 
property and equipment account. 
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The Parent Entity and Subsidiary uses cost model as its subsequent measurement of exploration and 
evaluation assets - assets are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are measured for impairment when facts or circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. 
When facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the 
Parent Entity and Subsidiary measures, presents and discloses any resulting impairment loss. The 
Parent Entity and Subsidiary is still in the exploration stages and evaluation of mineral resources. 
 
3.11 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life - for example, goodwill or intangible assets not ready for use 
- are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to 
amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is written down to 
its recoverable amount.  The estimated recoverable amount is the higher between the assets’ net selling 
price and value in use.  The net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an 
arm’s length transaction less the estimated cost of disposal while value in use is the present value of 
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal 
at the end of its useful life.  For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.  An 
impairment loss is charged to expense immediately, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount.  
Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent of previously 
recognized revaluation surplus for the same asset. 
 
Non-financial assets include prepayments (Note 10), property and equipment, net (Note 12), 
investment property (Note 13), and exploration and evaluation assets (Note 14). 
 
There are no impairment losses on non-financial assets as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. 
 
3.12 Refundable deposit 
 
This account pertains to refundable deposit for welding equipment which is stated at amortized cost less 
any impairment in value. 
 
3.13 Related party transactions and relationships 
 
Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions.  Such relationships also exist between and/or 
among entities, which are under common control with the reporting enterprise or between and/or 
among the reporting enterprises and their key management personnel, directors or their shareholders. 
 
Transactions between related parties are accounted for at arm’s length prices or on terms similar to 
those offered to non-related entities in an economically comparable market. 
 
Advances from shareholders are initially recorded at transaction price and are subsequently measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  
 



 

20 
 

During the consolidation process, due from subsidiary/due to parent company amounting to 
P23,647,934 is eliminated. 
 
3.14 Operating segment 
 
An operating segment is a component of an entity (a) that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to the transactions 
with other components of the same entity), (b) whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the 
entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess the performance, and (c) for which discrete financial information is available. 
 
3.15 Taxation 
 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax. 
 
Current tax 
 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as 
reported in the statements of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable nor 
deductible. The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and are 
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. 
 
The balance sheet liability method focuses on temporary differences, which are the differences 
between the amount attributed to an asset or liability for tax purposes (tax base) and the carrying 
amount of that asset or liability in the statements of financial position. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred income 
tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits 
from excess of the minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax and 
unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused MCIT 
and unused NOLCO can be utilized.  
 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to 
the extent that is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates applicable to the period when 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
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taxation authority and the Parent Entity and Subsidiary intends to settle the current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis.   
 
Current tax and deferred tax shall be recognized outside profit or loss if the tax relates to items that are 
recognized, in the same or a different period, outside profit or loss. Therefore, current tax and deferred 
tax that relates to items that are recognized, in the same or a different period: 
 

(a) in other comprehensive income, shall be recognized in other comprehensive income, 
(b) directly in equity, shall be recognized directly in equity. 

 
3.16 Accruals and other payables 
 
Accruals and other payables are recognized in the period in which the money or services are received, 
or when a legally enforceable claim against the Parent Entity and Subsidiary is established, or when 
the corresponding assets and expenses are recognized/incurred. 
 
Accruals and other payables are measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction cost 
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Accruals and other 
payables are derecognized when extinguished. 
 
3.17 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Parent Entity and Subsidiary have a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future 
operating losses. 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of 
obligations may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized 
as interest expense. 
 
3.18 Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. These are disclosed unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are 
not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to financial statements when 
an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
3.19 Equity 

 
Share capital is determined using the nominal value of shares that have been issued and fully paid. 
 
Other comprehensive income (loss) pertains to remeasurement on retirement benefits payable. 
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Retained earnings (deficit) include current and prior period results of operations as disclosed in the 
statement of changes in equity 
 
3.20 Revenue and expense recognition 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary is in the business of mining. This account comprises the revenue 
from sales of asphalt, gold and other precious metal produced, sold and payment received from the 
mining concessions and services rendered when control of the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. 
 
To date, the Parent Entity has no product to sell and services to render since it is still in the pre-
development and pre-exploration stage of the mining project and the Subsidiary being in the status of 
dormancy but has entertained inquiries or proposals to lease its building in Baguio City thus, 
management is looking at a possible rental income. 
 
(i) Interest income 
 
Interest income on bank deposits is presented net of tax when earned. Interest income on salary loan is 
recognized when earned. 
 
(ii) Cost and expenses 
 
Direct costs and expenses are recorded when incurred. 
 
3.21 Employees costs 

 
Short-term employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefits are employees’ benefits (other than termination benefits) which fall due 
wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 
service. It includes salaries, wages, social security contributions, paid annual leaves and paid sick 
leave profit-sharing and bonuses (if payable within twelve months of the end of the period) and non-
monetary benefits for current employees. Currently, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s employees are 
entitled to all the above-mentioned short-term benefits except profit sharing. 
 
Retirement benefits 
 
Retirement benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which are payable after the 
completion of employment. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary has applied PAS 19 (Revised) - Employee Benefits and the related 
consequential amendments. The Company has applied these amendments retrospectively and in 
accordance with the transitional provisions as set out in the PAS 19 (Revised) par. 173. These 
transitional provisions have an impact on future periods. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s net obligation in respect of the defined benefit retirement plan is 
calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current year and prior year periods. The benefit is discounted to determine the present 
value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at financial 
reporting date on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the 
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Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s obligation. The current calculation is performed by a qualified actuary 
using the projected unit credit method. 
 
Retirement benefits expense comprises the following: 
 

a. Service cost,  
b. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability, 
c. Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability. 

 
Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine 
settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss. Past service costs are recognized when plan 
amendment or curtailment occurs. These amounts are calculated periodically by independent qualified 
actuaries. 
 
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability is the change during the period in the net defined 
benefit liability that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount rate 
based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability. Net interest on the net defined benefit 
liability is recognized as an expense in the profit or loss. 
 
Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the 
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized 
immediately in the consolidated statements of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to 
retained earnings through other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. 
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
 
3.22 Leases 
 
Leases, where a significant portion of risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to operations on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
Future minimum lease payments are the payments over the lease term that the lessee is or required to 
make, excluding contingent rent, costs for services and taxes to be paid by and reimbursed to the 
lessor, together with any amounts guaranteed by the lessee or by a party related to the lessee.  
 
For operating lease, the standard requires disclosure on the total future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods: 
 

(i) not later than one year, 
(ii) later than one year and not later than five years, 
(iii) later than five years. 

 
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 

 
At the inception of an arrangement, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary determine whether such an 
arrangement is or contains a lease. A specific asset is the subject of a lease if fulfillment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of that specified asset. An arrangement conveys the right to use 
the asset if the arrangement conveys to the Parent Entity and Subsidiary the right to control the use of 
the underlying asset. 
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At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary separate 
payments and other consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those 
for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the Parent Entity and Subsidiary 
conclude for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, an asset and a 
liability are recognized at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently the 
liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance charge on the liability is recognized 
using the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s incremental borrowing rate. 
 
3.23 Foreign currency transactions 
 
In preparing the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s consolidated financial statements, transactions in 
foreign currencies other than its functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign currency 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the 
fair values are determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign 
currency are not retranslated. 
 
Foreign currency gain or loss resulting from the settlement of such transaction at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 
 
3.24 Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the income (loss) for the year attributable to 
the common shareholders of the Parent Entity by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the year, after considering the retroactive effect of stock dividend declaration, if 
any. The Corporation Code of the Philippines under Section 137 defines outstanding capital stock as 
the total shares of stock issued under binding subscription agreements to subscribers or stockholders, 
whether or not fully or partially paid except treasury shares.  
 
For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings (loss) per share, profit (loss) for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the Parent Entity and the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 
3.25 Subsequent events 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary identify subsequent events as events that occur after the reporting 
date but before the date when the consolidated financial statements are authorized for issue. Any 
subsequent events that provide additional information about the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s 
consolidated financial position at the reporting date are reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements.  

Non-adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material. 

There are no subsequent events after the reporting date that requires adjustment or disclosure in the 
financial statements.  
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 
The primary objective of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary on capital management is to ensure their 
ability to continue as a going concern and to provide adequate returns and benefits to shareholders and 
other stakeholders by operating with guidance of high technical services and pursue the long-term 
outlook of management to deliver long term growth and profits. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary manages the following capital as shown in the statements of changes 
in equity: 

Note 2018 2017 2016
Authorized capital 1,800,000,000  20
Subscribed capital 652,500,000     20
Paid-up capital 20 636,563,546   636,413,546       636,413,546        

The Parent Entity and Subsidiary monitor capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity as 
presented on the face of the statements of financial position.  
 
Measurement of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial leverage is summarized as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Total liabilities 41,223,110       33,450,464           25,629,388            
Total equity 799,234,167     571,186,068         529,462,119          
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.0515:1 0.0585:1 0.048:1

The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for monitoring capital 
in proportion to risk. Profiles or capital ratios are set in the light of changes in its external environment 
and the risks underlying its business, operations and industry. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary define capital as paid-up share capital and retained earnings, both 
appropriated and unappropriated. Other components of equity such as treasury stock are excluded 
from capital for purposes of capital management. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary set the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing 
structure, i.e., equity and financial liabilities. Parent Entity and Subsidiary manage the capital structure 
and make adjustment in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the 
underlying asset.  
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
NOTE 5 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
 
These consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS require management to 
make judgments and estimates that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and related 
notes. Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
circumstances. Actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates. 
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5.1 Critical management judgments in applying accounting policies 
 
In the process of applying the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s accounting policies, management has 
made the following judgments, apart from those involving estimation, which have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 
 

a. Functional currency    
 

The Philippine Peso is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
Company operates.  It is the currency in which the Parent Entity and Subsidiary measures 
the performance and reports the results of the operations. 

 
b.  Lease agreements 

 
Critical judgment was exercised by management to distinguish each lease agreement as 
either operating or finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of the properties covered by the agreements. Failure to make 
the right judgment will result in either overstatement or understatement of assets and 
liabilities. 

 
Operating Lease - the Company as a lessee 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary has entered into various leases of office spaces. The 
Parent Entity and Subsidiary has determined that all significant risks and rewards of 
ownership remain with the lessor due to the following: 

 
i. the ownership of the asset does not transfer at the end of the lease term, 
ii. the Parent Entity and Subsidiary has no option to purchase the asset at a price which is 

expected to be sufficiently lower than the fair value at the date the option becomes 
exercisable such that, at the inception of the lease, it is reasonably certain that the 
option will be exercised, 

iii. the lease term is not for the major part of the economic life of the asset even if title is 
not transferred. 
 

Based on the existing lease agreements, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary have classified 
its lease as operating lease for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 (Note 
24). 

 
c. Provisions 
 

Provisions for liabilities are recognized when the Parent Entity and Subsidiary have a 
present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of time value of money is 
material, the amount of provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be 
required to settle the obligation. 

 
There are no provisions recognized as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. 
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d. Contingencies 
 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial 
statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial 
statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Contingent liabilities are disclosed in Note 28. There are no contingent assets for 
disclosure. 

 
5.2 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
 

a. Estimated useful lives (EUL) of property and equipment 
 

The management estimates the useful lives of property and equipment based on the period 
in which the assets are expected to be available for use.  The EUL of the property and 
equipment (Note 3.8) are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ 
from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial 
obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets. In addition, the estimation 
of the useful lives of property and equipment is based on the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary’s collective assessment of industry practice, internal evaluation and experience 
with similar assets. It is possible, however, that the future results of operations could be 
materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned 
above. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by 
changes in these circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property and 
equipment would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease non-current assets. 
 
Depreciation expense amounts to P20,547, P177,531 and P189,109 for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, (Note 12). 
 

b. Impairment of available-for-sale investments (Applicable prior to adoption of PFRS 9) 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective 
evidence that equity investments classified as available-for-sale are impaired. The Parent 
Entity and Subsidiary’s available-for-sale investment in Export and Industry Bank has no 
available market value as at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 due to its suspension by 
the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) since May 2, 2008. The Export Bank was shutdown 
by the Central Bank due to insolvency in 2012 and reported that the Philippine Insurance 
Corporation (PDIC) has until March 25, 2013 to effect rehabilitation  of the bank. Efforts 
to comply with the conditions before rehabilitation are on going. The fair value of the 
investment amounts to zero as at December 31, 2017 and P6,910  as at December 31, 
2016 and 2015. There was no available market value of Philcomsat Holdings Corporation 
(PHC) as at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 due to its suspension by the PSE since 
December 21, 2007. Due to the intra-corporate controversies which PHC has been 
involved in for several years now, the management has decided to take a conservative 
stand and provide 90% allowance for impairment on its investments in the stocks of PHC. 
The stock is adjusted to its fair value of P80,000 as at December 31, 2017, December 31, 
2016 and 2015. 
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The Parent Entity has recognized impairment loss on investment in Export and Industry 
Bank amounting to P6,910 (Note 25) as at December 31, 2017. 

 
c. Impairment of property and equipment 

 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary perform an impairment review when certain impairment 
indicators are present. Purchase accounting requires extensive use of accounting estimates 
and judgment to allocate the purchase price to the fair market values of the assets 
purchased and liabilities assumed. 
 
Determining the fair value of property and equipment, which require the determination of 
future cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate 
disposition of such assets, requires the Parent Entity and Subsidiary to make estimates and 
assumptions that can materially affect the financial statements. Any resulting impairment 
loss could have a material adverse impact on the consolidated financial condition and 
results of operations. 

 
The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves significant judgment and 
estimations. While the Parent Entity and Subsidiary believe that their assumptions are 
appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect 
the assessment of recoverable values and may lead to future additional impairment 
charges under PFRS. 
 
The carrying value of property and equipment amounts to P10,846, P31,393 and P203,024  
(Note 12) as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

 
Based on management’s assessment, some fully depreciated equipment amounting to 
P24,375, P24,000 and P925,292 (Note 12) for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 
and 2016, respectively, are already destroyed and unserviceable, hence, derecognized in 
the books. 

 
d. Revaluation of investment property 

 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary has adopted the fair value approach in determining the 
carrying value of its investment property.  While the Parent Entity and Subsidiary has 
opted to rely on independent appraisers to determine the fair value of its investment 
property, such fair value was determined based on recent prices of similar property, with 
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions since the date of the 
transactions that occurred at those prices.  The amounts and timing of recorded changes in 
fair value for any period would differ if the Parent Entity made different judgments and 
estimates or utilized different basis for determining fair value (Note 3.9). 

  
The fair value of investment property is P785,000,000, P550,000,000 and P500,000,000 
(Note 13) as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 
Gain from investment property revaluation amounting to P235,000,000 P50,000,000 and  
P80,000,000 (Note 13) related to investment property is recognized for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. 
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e. Recoverability of exploration and evaluation of assets 
 
Exploration and evaluation costs are recognized as assets in accordance with PFRS 6, 
Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources. Capitalization of these costs is 
based, to a certain extent, on management’s judgment of the degree to which the 
expenditure may be associated with finding specific mining reserve. 
 
The application of the Parent Entity and  Subsidiary’s  accounting policy for exploration 
and evaluation assets requires judgment and estimates in determining whether it is likely 
that the future economic benefits are certain, which may be based on assumptions about 
future events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions may change if new information 
becomes available. If, after the exploration and evaluation assets are capitalized, 
information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the 
amount capitalized is written off in the statement of comprehensive income in the period 
when the new information becomes available. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary reviews the carrying values of its exploration and 
evaluation assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying 
values may exceed their estimated net recoverable amounts. An impairment loss is 
recognized when the carrying values of these assets are not recoverable and exceeds their 
fair value. The factors that the Parent Entity and its Subsidiary’s considers important 
which could trigger an impairment review of exploration and evaluation assets include the 
following: 
 
 the period for which the Parent Entity and its Subsidiary has the right to explore in the 

specific area has expired during the period or will expire in the near future, and is not 
expected to be renewed; 

 substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mining reserve in 
the specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; 

 exploration for and evaluation of mining reserve in the specific area have not led to 
the discovery of commercially viable mining reserve and the Parent Entity and  
Subsidiary decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area; and 

 sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is 
likely to proceed, the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is 
unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or by sale. 

 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary determines impairment of projects based on the 
assessment of the technical group of its Indonesian partner or based on management’s 
decision not to pursue any further commercial development of its exploration projects. 
 
There are no impairment losses recognized for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 
and 2016. 
 

f. Impairment of non-financial assets 
  

The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial 
assets is discussed in Note 3.11. Though management believes that the assumptions used 
in estimation of fair values reflected in the consolidated financial statements are 
appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect 
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the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment loss could have a 
material adverse effect on the results of operations. 
 
There are no impairment losses recognized for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 
and 2016. 

 
g. Estimated retirement benefits 

 
The determination of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s obligation and cost of pension is 
dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used in calculating such amounts. Those 
assumptions are, and include, among others, discount rate and salary increase rate. In 
accordance with PAS 19 (Revised), actual results that differ from the assumptions are 
accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect the 
recognized expense and recorded obligation in such future periods. 
 
PAS 19 (Revised) also requires retrospective application which means that minimum 
disclosure requirements shall be made in comparative period as well as the current period. 

 
The retirement benefit expense, liability and detailed discussion of sensitivity analysis are 
discussed in Note 18. 

 
h. Income taxes 

 
A certain degree of significant judgment is required in determining the provision for 
income taxes as there are certain transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. 
 
The provision for income tax-deferred recognized for the years ended December 31, 2018, 
2017 and 2016 amounts to P99,916, P80,056 and (P4,850,410) (Note 16), respectively. 
 

i. Recognition of deferred tax assets 
 
The carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at each financial reporting date are 
reviewed and are reduced to the extent that there is no longer sufficient future taxable 
income available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. The 
Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s assessment on the recognition of deferred tax assets on 
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward benefits of excess MCIT and 
NOLCO is based on the forecasted taxable income of the future years. This forecast is 
based on the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s past results and future expectations on 
revenue and expenses. 
 
The carrying values of deferred tax assets, which the management assessed to be fully 
utilized within the next two (2) three (3) years amounts to P1,305,307, P1,247,358 and 
P1,288,671 (Note 17) as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The 
Company also has deductible temporary differences, carryforward benefits of unused 
NOLCO and excess MCIT for which no deferred income tax asset was recognized (Note 
17). 
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NOTE 6 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary are exposed to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, 
market risk, fair value estimation and fair value hierarchy. The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s overall 
risk management program seek to minimize potential adverse effects on its financial performance and 
to make an optimal contribution to its revenues by managing these risks. The Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary’s risk management, vested thru the Board of Directors, focuses on actively securing their 
short to medium-term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial risks. Long-term financial 
investments are managed to generate lasting returns.  
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s response to the risks and challenges they face are as follows: 
 

 To explore less risky exploration and exploitation of minerals, 
 Shorten exploration period and look for the most economical ways to explore and to 

conduct the latest geological and geophysical techniques to minimize the risks of 
exploration, 

 To engage experts to utilize proven hedge and financial initiatives to mitigate and 
minimize inherent risks of the volatility of commodities, and 

 To place importance in community welfare and community relationship. 
 
The policies of managing specific risks are summarized below: 
 
Financial risk factors 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial assets and liabilities, comprising mainly of cash and cash 
equivalents, other receivable, deposit, investment in stocks and advances from shareholders are 
exposed to a variety of financial risks. The management ensures that it has sound policies and 
strategies in place to minimize potential adverse effects of these risks in the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary’s financial performance.  
 
6.1 Credit risk management 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its obligations resulting in financial loss 
to the Parent Entity and Subsidiary. The Parent Entity and Subsidiary have adopted a policy of dealing 
with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. 
 
Generally, the maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of the financial 
assets as shown on the face of the consolidated financial statements or in the detailed analysis 
provided in the notes to consolidated financial statements, as summarized below: 

2018 Note Carrying amount
Neither past due 

nor impaired
Past due but not 

impaired
Cash and cash equivalents* 8 3,449,977          3,449,977          -                      
Other receivables 9 36,800               36,800               
Investment in stocks 11 80,000               80,000               -                      
Refundable deposit 15 45,000               -                      45,000                

3,611,777          3,566,777          45,000                
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2017 Note Carrying amount
Neither past due 

nor impaired
Past due but not 

impaired
Cash and cash equivalents* 8 2,350,767          2,350,767          -                      
Other receivables 9 109,940             109,940             
Investment in stocks 11 80,000               80,000               -                      
Refundable deposit 15 45,000               -                      45,000                

2,585,707          2,540,707          45,000                

2016 Note Carrying amount
Neither past due 

nor impaired
Past due but not 

impaired
Cash and cash equivalents* 8 2,938,299          2,938,299          -                      
Other receivables 9 27,171               27,171               
Investment in stocks 11 86,910               86,910               -                      
Refundable deposit 15 45,000               -                      45,000                

3,097,380          3,052,380          45,000                
*Excluding cash on hand and petty cash fund
 
None of the above financial assets are used for collateral or other credit enhancements. 
 
Accordingly, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary have assessed the quality of the following financial 
assets: 
 

1. The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is assessed as low risk since cash are deposited in 
reputable banks which have low probability of insolvency. 
   

2. Other receivables pertain to receivable from employees and accrued interest from time 
deposit. The credit risk is assessed as low risk since it is collected thru salary deduction and 
deposited in reputable bank which has low probability of insolvency. 
 

3. The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Company from the investment in stock is 
equivalent to the fair value of the shares in the PSE as at the reporting date.  
 

4. The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s refundable deposit is presented as non-current asset as it is 
not expected to be refunded within the next twelve (12) months. The risk associated with the 
refundable deposit is very low since the amount can be collected upon the return of the gas 
cylinder.  

 
6.2 Liquidity risk management 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Parent Entity and Subsidiary will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with financial liabilities. 
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As at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial liabilities have 
contractual maturities as follows:   

2017 Note
3 to 12 
months

More than 12 
months

3 to 12 
months

More than 12 
months

3 to 12 
months

More than 12 
months

Accruals and other payables * 17 2,211,163    -                1,824,495   -                186,427        -                
Advances from shareholders 19 -               34,598,840   -              27,319,840   -                21,086,840   

2,211,163  34,598,840 1,824,495 27,319,840 186,427        21,086,840  

* Excluding withholding taxes, documentary stamp tax, SSS, PHIC and HDMF payables

2018 2017 2016

The total current assets exceed the total current liabilities by P1,270,525,  P787,667 and P2,748,574 as 
at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, computed as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Total current assets 3,543,776           2,760,433           2,995,554             
Total current liabilities 2,273,251           1,972,766           246,980               

1,270,525           787,667              2,748,574             

The Parent Entity and Subsidiary manage liquidity risk by maintaining adequate highly liquid assets in 
the form of cash and cash equivalents. Management has no knowledge of any other trends, demands, 
commitments, events or uncertainties that would have material impact on the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary’s liquidity. It looks at its current assets as source of liquidity. A call on subscription 
receivable is an alternative to raise cash. The major shareholders have committed to pay their 
subscription payable to the Parent Entity as the need arises. 
 
6.3 Market risk management 
 
Market risk is the risk of loss to future earnings, to fair value or to future cash flows that may result 
from changes in the price of a financial instrument.  The value of a financial instrument may change as 
a result of changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices 
and other market changes.  

 
6.3.1 Interest rate and foreign currency risk 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates is minimal since 
the cash and cash equivalents have fixed interest rates not affected by interest rates in the market. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily with respect to the 
monetary assets denominated in US Dollar. The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s financial position and 
financial performance are affected by the movements in the Philippine Peso to US Dollar exchange 
rates.  Foreign currency risk arises when recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a 
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.  The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s foreign 
currency denominated monetary asset is shown in Note 23. 
 
As at December 31, 2018, if the Philippine Peso has weakened/strengthened by (0.38%) against the 
US Dollar with all other variables held constant, loss for the year would have been lower/higher by 
P9,112 mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US Dollar denominated 
net assets shown in Note 23. The (0.38%) volatility is based on 30-day historical foreign currency 
fluctuations experienced by the Company. 
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6.3.2 Other price risk sensitivity 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s market price risk arises from available-for-sale financial asset 
which is carried at fair value. It manages its risk by monitoring the changes in the market price of the 
investments. 
 
For the equity securities, there was no available market value in PSE due to the suspension of both the 
issuing companies. In 2014, the management decided to recognize the impairment loss for both 
companies. In 2017, the Board of Directors resolved to write-off the investment in Export and Industry 
Bank. 

 
6.4 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities 
 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities which approximate fair values as presented in 
the consolidated statements of financial position are shown below:  

Note Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents* 8 3,449,977         3,449,977       2,350,767       2,350,767       2,938,299             2,938,299       
Other receivables 9 36,800             36,800            109,940          109,940          27,171                  27,171            
Investment in stocks 11 80,000             80,000            80,000            80,000            86,910                  86,910            
Refundable deposit 15 45,000             45,000            45,000            45,000            45,000                  45,000            

3,611,777         3,611,777       2,585,707       2,585,707       3,097,380             3,097,380       
*Excluding cash on hand and petty cash fund
Financial liabilities:

Accruals and other payables* 17 2,211,163         2,211,163       1,824,495       1,824,495       186,927                186,927          
Advances from shareholder 19 34,598,840       34,598,840     27,319,840     27,319,840     21,086,840           21,086,840     

36,810,003       36,810,003     29,144,335     29,144,335     21,273,767           21,273,767     
*Excluding withholding taxes, documentary stamp tax, SSS, PHIC and HDMF payable.

2018 2017 2016

 
6.5 Fair value hierarchy of financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
 

31/12/2018 31/12/2017 31/12/2016
Investment in 
stocks             80,000             80,000             86,910 Level 3

Discounted cash 
flows Not applicable

Fair Values as atFinancial Assets Fair Value 
Hierarchy

Valuation 
Technique(s) / 
Key input(s)

Significant 
unobservable 

input(s)

Investment in stocks has no available market values since 2010. The carrying amount is the 
approximate fair value. 
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6.6 Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required) 

31/12/2018 31/12/2017 31/12/2016
Cash and cash 
equivalents*        3,449,977        2,350,767        2,938,299 Level 3

Discounted cash 
flows Not applicable

Other receivables             36,800           109,940             27,171 Level 3
Discounted cash 

flows Not applicable
Investment in 
stocks             80,000             80,000             86,910 Level 3

Discounted cash 
flows Not applicable

Refundable 
deposit             45,000             45,000             45,000 Level 3

Discounted cash 
flows Not applicable

Accruals and 
other payables**        2,211,163        1,824,495           186,927 Level 3

Discounted cash 
flows Not applicable

Advances from 
shareholders      34,598,840      27,319,840      21,086,840 Level 3

Discounted cash 
flows Not applicable

* Excluding cash on hand and petty cash
**Excluding withholding taxes, documentary stamp tax, SSS, PHIC and HDMF payable

Fair Values as at
Financial Assets / 

Financial 
Liabilities

Fair Value 
Hierarchy

Valuation 
Technique(s) / 
Key input(s)

Significant 
unobservable 

input(s)

NOTE 7 - OPERATING SEGMENT 
 
An operating segment is a component of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary that (a) engages in business 
activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses 
relating to transactions with other components of the same entity, (b) whose operating results are 
regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to 
be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and (c) for which discrete financial 
information is available. 
 
In 2009, with the interest of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary in mining, this business segment can be 
reported as an operating segment even though it is still in its exploratory stage. The business segment 
is organized and managed separately according to the nature of the services provided. A segment asset 
includes all operating assets used by a segment and consists of supplies, deposits, exploration and 
evaluation assets, property and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation). 
 
With the granting of the rights of exploration, exploitation, development and operation of the mining 
concessions in Indonesia, information about this mining business segment is as follows: 

Note 2018 2017 2016
Mining business segment None to report None to report None to report

Segment assets
Exploration and evaluation asset 14 50,472,348 50,472,348 50,472,348
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NOTE 8 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
This account consists of: 

2018 2017 2016
Cash equivalents 2,231,455        2,103,546        2,085,303          
Cash in banks 1,218,522        247,221           852,996             
Cash on hand 14,969             259,000           990                   
Petty cash fund 4,000               4,000               4,000                

3,468,946        2,613,767        2,943,289          

Cash in banks generally earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates. Cash equivalents are placements 
good for thirty-five (35) days with one local bank depending on the immediate cash requirements and 
earn interest at the prevailing short-term deposit rate of 0.50% per annum. Due to the short-term nature 
of such transactions, the carrying value approximates fair value of the temporary cash investments. 
 
Total interest income from bank deposits for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 
amounts to P9,958, P10,337 and P11,265 respectively. 
 
Unrealized foreign exchange gain credited in the statements of comprehensive income due to 
restatement of the cash in bank and cash equivalents dollar accounts amounted to P125,631, P9,294 
and P118,989 (Note 23) for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 
NOTE 9 - OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
This account consists of: 

2018 2017 2016
Salary loan receivable 36,511                  104,102                26,562                  
Accrued interest 289                       838                       428                       
Other receivables -                       5,000                    181                       

36,800                  109,940                27,171                  

Salary loan earns an interest rate of 16% per annum payable on a monthly/semi-monthly installment.  
 
Interest income recognized for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 amounts to 
P4,767, P13,633 and P7,818.  
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary believes that the carrying amount of other receivables approximates 
fair value due to its short-term nature. 
 
NOTE 10 - PREPAYMENTS 
 
This account pertains to advance payments on the Parent Company’s cars insurance coverage, 
membership fees and subscription which are unexpired amounting to P38,030, P36,726 and P25,094  
as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
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NOTE 11 - INVESTMENT IN STOCKS 
 
Investment in stocks measured at fair value through OCI consists of the following as at December 31, 
2018: 

2018
Quoted equity instruments

Philcomsat Holdings Corp. 80,000             

There was no available market value of Philcomsat Holdings Corporation (PHC) as at December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016 due to its suspension by the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) since December 
21, 2007.  
 
On December 3, 2008 the Corporation Finance Department of the SEC issued an order of suspension 
of PHC’s Registration of Securities for violation of SRC Rules 17.1 (1) (A) (i) & (ii) due to its 
continuing failure to file its 2006 and 2007 annual reports as well as its 1st, 2nd and 3rd quarterly 
reports for 2007. As at December 31, 2018, the suspension has not been lifted. PHC is a subject of 
intra-corporate controversies. Due to unavailability of a market price, a valuation technique could be 
used to establish its fair value. Valuation techniques include using arm’s length market transactions 
between knowledgeable parties, if available; reference to the current fair value of another instrument 
that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. However, due 
to intra-corporate controversies which PHC has been involved in for several years now, management 
has decided to take a conservative stand and provide a 90% allowance based on cost for the 
impairment of its investment. No fair value gain (loss) was recognized in 2018, 2017 and 2016.  
 
Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets (prior to adoption of PFRS 9) consist of the following as at 
December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Note 3): 
 

2017 2016
Philcomsat Holdings Corp.

Cost - 80,000,000 shares @ P0.01/share 800,000         800,000          
Export and Industry Bank

Cost - 691,000 shares @ P1/share 691,000         691,000          
Total 1,491,000      1,491,000        
Fair value loss recognized in OCI -                  -                  
Impairment loss recognized in previous year (1,404,090)     (1,404,090)       
Impairment loss recognized in current year (6,910)             -                  
Fair value, December 31 80,000            86,910            

For the Export and Industry Bank stocks, there was no available market value as at December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016 due to its voluntary suspension. The management decided to use the value of the 
investment at closing rate in 2008 for the years 2016 and 2015 because its stocks remain suspended as 
at December 31, 2016 and 2015. The last transaction date was May 14, 2009 and the closing rate was 
P0.26 per share for the year 2009. As at December 24, 2008, the closing rate of the stock was P0.15 
per share. On the special meeting of the Board of Directors held on April 3, 2018, it was resolved that 
the investment on Export and Industry Bank is to be written off in the books of the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary. 
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Below is the reconciliation between the carrying amounts of AFS financial assets reported under PAS 
39 to the balances reported under PFRS 9 as at January 1, 2018: 

Note
AFS financial assets at December 31, 2017 80,000                 
Impact of adoption of PFRS 9

Reclassifications to financial assets at FVOCI 3.2.1 (80,000)               
AFS financial assets at January 1, 2018 -                      

Due to suspension in PSE, there is no available market value for both investments, thus, there is no net 
accumulated unrealized gain (loss) on AFS financial assets reported under PAS 39 as at December 31, 
2017 to be transferred to net accumulated unrealized gain on financial assets at FVOCI as at January 1, 
2018. 
 
NOTE 12 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 
 
Details of property and equipment as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 
 

Building

 
Transportation 

equipment 
Welding 

Equipment
 Office 

equipment 

 Office 
furniture and 

fixture  Total 
Gross carrying value:
    January 1, 2016 2,193,697      1,150,000      1,397,734      177,954         134,770         5,054,155      

 Additions -                 -                 -                 9,800             -                 9,800             
 Disposals -                 -                 -                 (36,100)          -                 (36,100)          

    December 31, 2016 2,193,697      1,150,000      1,397,734      151,654         134,770         5,027,855      
 Additions -                 -                 -                 5,900             -                 5,900             
 Disposals -                 -                 -                 (24,000)          -                 (24,000)          

    December 31, 2017 2,193,697      1,150,000      1,397,734      133,554         134,770         5,009,755      
 Disposals -                 -                 -                 (24,375)          -                 (24,375)          

    December 31, 2018 2,193,697      1,150,000      1,397,734      109,179         134,770         4,985,380      
Accumulated depreciation:

 January 1, 2016 1,901,201   1,150,000      1,397,734   104,887         115,000         4,668,822      
 Depreciation 146,247      -                 -                 31,913           10,949           189,109         
 Disposals -                 -                 -                 (33,100)          -                 (33,100)          

    December 31, 2016 2,047,448      1,150,000      1,397,734      103,700         125,949         4,824,831      
 Depreciation 146,248      -               27,503         3,780             177,531        
 Disposals -               (24,000)        -                 (24,000)         

    December 31, 2017 2,193,696      1,150,000      1,397,734      107,203         129,729         4,978,362      
 Depreciation -                -               16,767         3,780             20,547          
 Disposals -                 -                 (24,375)          -                 (24,375)          

    December 31, 2018 2,193,696      1,150,000      1,397,734      99,595           133,509         4,974,534      
Carrying value:
   As at December 31, 2016 146,249         -               -               47,954         8,821             203,024        
   As at December 31, 2017 1                   -               -               26,351         5,041             31,393          
   As at December 31, 2018 1                   -               -               9,584           1,261             10,846          

 
The above property and equipment have not been used as collateral for a loan.  
 
There are no contractual commitment for the acquisition of property and equipment as at December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016. 
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The gross carrying value of fully depreciated property and equipment still in use by the Parent Entity 
and Subsidiary amounting to P1,346,450, P1,305,825, and P1,321,825 as at December 31, 2018, 2017 
and 2016, respectively.  
 
NOTE 13 - INVESTMENT PROPERTY 
 
This represents the transfer value or consideration of the parcel of land which was used as full 
payment of the subscription of the President Oliverio G. Laperal, Sr. on the increase in authorized 
capital stock of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary amounting to P400 million. The parcel of land is 
located at 1004 EDSA, Quezon City with a land area of five thousand (5,000) sq.m. This investment 
property is covered by TCT No. N-307207 issued by the Land Registration Authority to Imperial 
Resources, Incorporated on September 3, 2007. An annotation on the title states that “the acquisition 
of the property described in this title/certificate is by virtue of tax free exchange pursuant to Section 40 
C (2) of the National Internal Revenue Code (NIRC) of 1997 per Deed of Assignment of Real 
Property dated February 2, 2007”.  
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s investment property is measured using the fair value model. 
 
The fair value of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s investment property is as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Fair value, January 1 550,000,000      500,000,000      420,000,000        
Gain from investment property revaluation      235,000,000      50,000,000        80,000,000          
Fair value, December 31 785,000,000        550,000,000        500,000,000        

 
 
The value of the property is based on the appraisal made by Cuervo Appraisers, Inc., an independent 
appraiser accredited with SEC and determined using the Sales Comparison Approach. This is a 
comparative approach to value that considers the sales of similar or substitute properties and related 
market data establishes a value estimate by processes involving comparison. Based on the analysis and 
considering the location, size, shape and physical characteristics, highest and best use of the subject 
property, the appraiser’s report indicated that the fair market value of the land is P785,000,000 as at 
December 31, 2018. Appraisal of the property was also performed by an independent appraiser and 
determined the fair value of the property as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 amounting to 
P550,000,000 and P500,000,000 using the same approach. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary  assessed that the investment property is considered as capital asset 
under Sec. 39 (A) (1) of the NIRC subject to capital gains tax upon sale and the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary does not intend to sell the property. Thus, the gain from the revaluation is considered as 
permanent difference in the income tax computation and no deferred tax liability is recognized (Note 
16). 
 
The above investment property has not been used as collateral for a loan.  
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Details of the Parent Entity’s investment property and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 
December 31, 2018 are as follows: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fair value as at 

12/31/18
Investment property -                   785,000,000   -                   785,000,000     

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year. 
 
NOTE 14 - EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
 
This account consists of: 

 Acquisition of rights 
to explore  Geophysical studies  Total 

Gross carrying value:
    January 1, 2016 11,795,500                38,676,848                50,472,348                

 Additions -                             -                             -                             
    December 31, 2016 11,795,500                38,676,848                50,472,348                

 Additions -                             -                             -                             
    December 31, 2017 11,795,500                38,676,848                50,472,348                

 Additions -                             -                             -                             
   As at December 31, 2018 11,795,500              38,676,848              50,472,348                

On January 30, 2009, a Memorandum of Agreement was made by/and between the Parent Entity and 
PT. Aspal Buton Nasional granting the Parent Entity the exclusive right of exploration, exploitation, 
development and operation of the subject mining concessions. Upon signing of the Memorandum of 
Agreement, the amount deposited in September 2008 was recorded as Exploration and Evaluation 
Asset. In August 2009, payment for the cost of a geophysical survey was made amounting to 
US$100,000. The acquisition of rights to explore and geophysical studies are expenditures which are 
included in exploration and evaluation assets. In May 2011 and August 2011, the amount of 
US$120,000 and US$100,000, respectively, were remitted to Mr. Eddy Surohadi for the account of 
PT. Aspal Buton Nasional and PT Indominas to fund the additional geological works/studies needed 
for the preparation of the project feasibility report and environmental impact report required pending 
conversion of PT Aspal Buton Nasional Exploration permit to development and exploitation permit. In 
February, 2012 US$60,000 and another US$60,000 in September were both remitted to Mr. Eddy 
Surohadi for the account of PT. Aspal Buton Nasional and PT Indominas to cover the budget required 
for additional geological works/studies needed for the preparation of the project feasibility report and 
environmental impact report for the mining concession area in Buton Island. In 2013, the Parent Entity  
remitted another US$100,000 and US$20,000 in April and November to secure extension on the lease 
of the mining concession in Buton Island. In 2014, the Parent Entity remitted the amount of 
US$102,000 to Mr. Eddy Surohadi for obtaining informal approval for exploitation concession of the 
1,722 hectares Waangu-Angu areas including the cost of the preparation of the required technical 
report on post-production program to restore most of the mined-over areas to usable condition. During 
the year 2015, the Company remitted US$99,250 to Mr. Eddy Surohadi for the account of P.T. Asphal 
Buton and P.T. Indominas to cover the budget required for various technical and tax expenses on the 
CNC (Clean and Clear Certificate) IUP Production Program for the coverage area of 1,722 hectares. 
No remittances were made for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. As discussed in 
Note 2, the Parent Entity is proceeding with caution and at the same time re-evaluating its Indonesian 
mining project owing to the precipitous fall in the world price of crude, the Parent Entity is at present 
inclined to pursue the said project for that reason the Indonesian partners have been continuously 
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looking for foreign partners to invest capital needed after they have secured formal approval of the 
exploitation concession because of its viability. Further, the Board of Directors, in its special meeting 
on April 6, 2019,  has approved  the plan of the Company on the encouraging prospects of its, local 
and offshore, mining exploration in view of its economic import and despite rigorous government 
regulations. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary is still in the exploration stages and evaluation of mineral resources, 
thus no amortization is recognized as at December 31, 2018. 
 
NOTE 15 - REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT 
 
This represents the gas cylinder deposit with Island Air Product Corporation amounting to P45,000 as 
at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. 
 
NOTE 16 - INCOME TAXES 
 
The components of provision for income tax-current and deferred reported in the statements of 
comprehensive income are as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Provision for income tax - current -             -              -              
Provision for income tax - deferred 99,916        80,506         (4,850,410)    

99,916          80,506          (4,850,410)    
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The deferred tax asset (DTA) on Net Operating Loss Carry-over (NOLCO) for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 is computed as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Consolidated income before income tax 227,699,602       41,353,010            72,972,816            
Equity share in net loss of subsidiary - Parent Entity 217,167              395,098                 729,883                 
Separate net loss of subsidiary 2,194                  3,991                     7,373                     
Profit (loss) before income tax 227,918,963       41,752,099            73,710,072            
Add (deduct): 

Temporary differences:
Accrual of retirement benefits expense 333,991              277,194                 205,363                 
Unrealized gain on foreign exchange in the current year (125,631)             (9,294)                    (118,989)                
Unrealized gain on foreign exchange in previous year, 
realized in the current year 9,294                  118,989                 103,969                 

Permanent differences:
Impairment loss on investment in AFS -                      6,910                     -                         
Interest income subject to final tax (9,958)                 (10,337)                  (11,265)                  
Non-deductible penalties and surcharges 27,641                1,025                     -                         
Gain from investment property revaluation (235,000,000)      (50,000,000)           (80,000,000)           

Net Operating Loss Carry-Over (NOLCO) (6,845,700)          (7,863,414)             (6,110,850)             
Tax rate 30% 30% 30%
Deferred tax asset (DTA) on NOLCO (2,053,710)          (2,359,024)             (1,833,255)             

Minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) payable for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 
2016 is computed as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2016
Unrealized gain on foreign exchange realized in the
      subsequent year 9,294                   118,989               103,969             
Interest income on salary loan 4,767                   13,633                 7,818                 
Taxable income 14,061                 132,622               111,787             
MCIT rate 2% 2% 2%
MCIT payable 281                    2,652                  2,236                
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The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s income tax payable is computed as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2016
Normal income tax -                         -                          -                          
MCIT 281                    2,652                  2,236                  
Higher - MCIT 281                      2,652                   2,236                   
Less: Income tax payment

1st Quarter -                           (87)                       -                           
2nd Quarter -                           -                           -                           
3rd Quarter (95)                       -                           (156)                     

Income tax payable 186                    2,565                  2,080                  

The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s deferred tax asset as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 is 
computed as follows: 

Note Tax base DTA Tax base DTA Tax base DTA
Temporary differences:
Retirement benefit 

obligation 18 4,351,019  1,305,307  4,157,858  1,247,358  4,295,568  1,288,671  

2018 2017 2016

 
 
Realization of future tax benefit related to DTA is dependent on the Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s 
ability to generate future taxable income during the periods in which these are expected to be 
recovered.  The Company has considered these factors in reaching a conclusion as to the amount of 
DTA recognized as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.  Further, the Parent Entity and Subsidiary 
regularly reviews the recoverability of the DTA recognized. The DTA related to impairment loss on 
due from subsidiary, unrealized gain on foreign exchange, MCIT and NOLCO are not recognized 
since management believes that there is absence of virtual certainty that the DTA can be realized 
against future tax liabilities.  
 
The movements in DTA for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
DTA balance at beginning of the year 1,247,358    1,288,671     957,751        
DTA on retirement benefit obligation credited (charged 
to):

Profit for the year 100,197       83,158          92,800          
Other comprehensive income for the year (42,248)        (124,471)       238,120        

DTA balance at end of the year 1,305,307    1,247,358     1,288,671     
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The reconciliation of income tax expense on profit from operations computed at the statutory income 
tax rate to the provision for income tax - deferred reflected in the statements of comprehensive income 
for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Income tax expense on profit from operations at the
      statutory income tax rate of 30% 68,243,689     12,393,630     21,975,022     
Equity share in net loss of subsidiary
Separate net loss of subsidiary 30% 30% 30%
Adjustments for:

Impairment loss on investment in AFS -               2,073             -                
Interest income subjected to final tax (2,987)          (3,101)           (3,488)           
Non-deductible penalties and surcharges 8,292            307                -                
Gain from investment property revaluation (70,500,000) (15,000,000) (24,000,000)   
Unrecognized DTA on impairment loss on due from 
subsidiary 132,000          132,000          138,000          
Unrecognized DTA on unrealized gain on foreign 
exchange (34,901)          32,909            (4,506)            
Unrecognized DTA on NOLCO 2,053,710     2,359,024     1,833,255       
Unrecognized DTA on MCIT 281               2,652             2,236             
Reversal of previously recognized DTA on NOLCO -               -                (4,786,697)     
Reversal of previously recognized DTA on MCIT -               -                (4,232)           

(99,916)          (80,506)          (4,850,410)     

 
The gain from investment property revaluation amounting to P235,000,000, P50,000,000 and 
P80,000,000 (Note 13) for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, is 
considered as permanent difference, thus, no deferred tax liability has been provided. 
 
The balance of NOLCO as at December 31, 2018 may be used by the Parent Entity and Subsidiary as 
additional deductions against their respective future taxable income. Similarly, the MCIT balance as at 
December 31, 2018 may be applied against future income tax liabilities of the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary. 
 
The balances of NOLCO and MCIT, with their corresponding years of expiration, are as follows: 

Incurred for the year ended 
December 31

Available until December 
31 NOLCO MCIT

2018 2021 6,845,700                       281                                 
2017 2020 7,863,414                       2,652                              
2016 2019 6,110,850                       2,236                              

20,819,964                     5,169                              
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NOTE 17 - ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
This account consists of: 

2018 2017 2016
Accruals

Taxes and licenses 1,984,821                  1,587,857                 -                     
Professional fees 184,680                     177,520                    145,600             
Utilities 18,222                       19,366                      25,204               
Dues & subscription 4,500                         7,000                        5,500                 
Repairs and maintenance -                            11,355                      -                     
Others 18,940                       21,397                      10,123               

2,211,163                  1,824,495                 186,427             
Withholding taxes payable 35,781                       53,156                      43,026               
SSS, Philhealth, HDMF contributions and loan payabl 17,930                       19,892                      14,747               
Documentary stamp tax payable 8,191                         72,658                      700                    

2,273,065                1,970,201               244,900            

Management believes that the carrying amounts of accruals and other payables approximate fair values 
because of their short-term nature. 
 
Accruals and other payables are expected to be settled within the next twelve (12) months. 
 
NOTE 18 - RETIREMENT BENEFITS  
 
As discussed in Note 3, the Parent Entity has applied PAS 19 (Revised) - Employee Benefits and the 
related consequential amendments. The Parent Entity has applied these amendments retrospectively 
and in accordance with the transitional provisions as set out in the PAS 19 (Revised) par. 173. These 
transitional provisions have an impact on future periods. The opening statement of financial position 
of the earliest comparative period presented (January 1, 2011) has been restated in accordance with 
PAS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. Details of the effect of the 
application of the new standard are disclosed in Note 3.21. 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary does not have an established retirement plan and only conforms to 
the minimum regulatory benefit under the Retirement Pay Law (Republic Act No. 7641) which is of 
the defined benefit type and provides a retirement benefit equal to 22.5 days pay for every year of 
credited service. The regulatory benefit is paid in a lump sum upon retirement. 
 
The discount rate methodology was used to estimate the present value of the Parent Entity and 
Subsidiary’s defined benefit obligation. The discount rate was determined in accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Standard Council [FRSC] approved Q&A 2008-01(Revised) document, which 
mandates that discount rates reflect (a) benefit cash flows and (b) use of zero coupon rates, even 
though theoretically derived. 
 
The procedure of bootstrapping was applied to the PDST-R2 benchmark government bonds as at 
December 29, 2014 to arrive at the theoretical zero coupon yield curve. These derived rates were then 
used to compute the present value of the expected future benefit cash flows across valuation years. 
 
Finally, the single-weighted discount rate was calculated as the uniform discount rate that produced 
the same present value. 
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The valuation results are based on the employee data as of the valuation dates as provided by the 
Parent Entity and Subsidiary. The discount rate assumption is based on the PDEx (PDST-R2) 
benchmark market yields on government bonds as of the valuation dates (or latest available) 
considering the average years of remaining working life of the employees as the estimated term of the 
benefit obligation. 
 
The following information are based on the latest actuarial valuation report with December 31, 2018, 
2017 and 2016 as the valuation date by an independent actuarial firm. 
 
The movements in the present value of the retirement benefits payable recognized in the books are as 
follows: 
 

2018 2017 2016
Balance at beginning of the year 4,157,858              4,295,568              3,296,465              
Interest cost 194,172                 189,005                 135,814                 
Current service cost 139,819                 88,189                   69,549                   
Remeasurements of retirement benefits 
payable (140,830)                (414,904)                793,740                 

4,351,019              4,157,858              4,295,568              

The movements during the year in the retirement benefits payable recognized in the consolidated 
statements of financial position are as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2016
Balance at beginning of the year 4,157,858              4,295,568              3,296,465              
Retirement benefits expense 333,991                 277,194                 205,363                 
Remeasurements of retirement benefits 
payable (140,830)                (414,904)                793,740                 

4,351,019              4,157,858              4,295,568              

The amounts of retirement benefits expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 
recognized in the statements of comprehensive income are as follows: 
 

Note 2018 2017 2016
Current service cost 139,819                 88,189                   69,549                     
Interest cost 194,172                 189,005                 135,814                   

25 333,991                 277,194                 205,363                   

 



 

47 
 

The amount of remeasurements of retirement benefits payable presented in other comprehensive 
income in the statements of comprehensive income is computed as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2016
Actuarial gain on:

changes in financial assumptions 90,623                 20,325                 11,064                    
experience 50,207                 394,579               (804,804)                

Total 140,830               414,904               (793,740)                
Less: Deferred tax asset (liability) (42,249)                (124,471)              238,122                  

98,581                 290,433               (555,618)                

 The movement of remeasurements on retirement benefits payable recognized in the other 
comprehensive income is as follows: 

  
2018 2017 2016

Beginning balance (101,270)       (391,703)       163,915         
Remeasurements of retirement benefits payable, 
net of tax 98,581           290,433         (555,618)       

(2,689)           (101,270)       (391,703)       

In determining the amount on retirement benefits payable, the following actuarial assumptions were 
used:  

2018 2017 2016
Economic assumptions:

Discount rate 6.94% 4.67% 4.40%
Salary increase rate 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Employee data:
No. of employees 8                            8                               8                                
Average age in years 57.4                       56.4                         55.4                           
Average remaining working life 2.6                         3.6                            4.6                             
Average years of past service 25.1                       24.2                         23.7                           
Annual covered payroll 2,624,460                2,624,460                  2,624,460                   
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Below is the quantitative information about the sensitivity of the retirement liability to a reasonably, 
possible change in actuarial assumptions: 

2018 2017 2016

Increase in discount rate 0.90% 1.90% 1.00%
Decrease in present value of retirement benefits liability 37,080                  77,726                  41,831                  

Decrease in discount rate 0.80% 1.70% 0.80%
Increase in present value of retirement benefits liability (33,394)                (71,508)                (35,930)                 

Decrease in salary increase rate assumption 0.80% 0.80% 0.80%
Decrease in present value of retirement benefits liability (35,591)                (33,880)                (34,244)                 

Increase in salary increase rate assumption 0.90% 0.90% 0.90%
Increase in present value of retirement benefits liability 38,981                  38,309                  39,023                  

NOTE 19 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s relationship with related parties is described below: 

Oliverio G. Laperal, Sr.
LTC Real Estate Corporation
Filipinas Golf & Country Club, Inc.
Imperial Development Corporation

Relationship

With common director

Major shareholder

With common directors
Shareholder

The significant transactions of the Parent Entity and Subsidiary in the normal course of business with 
related parties are described below: 
 
A. OTHER RELATED PARTY- SHAREHOLDER

The Parent Entity obtains non-interest bearing advances from its major shareholder. These advances are
intended for the Parent Entity’s operations.

Amount of 
transactions

Outstanding balance Terms and conditions

Year 2018

Advances from shareholders
LTC Real Estate Corporation                   7,279,000                         21,737,625 a. Have no specific repayment dates,

b. The Company has unconditional right to defer 
payment for more than 12 months,
c. Non-interest bearing, and                                         
d. Can be converted to equity upon compliance with 
regulatory requirements

Oliverio G. Laperal, Sr.                                -                           12,861,215 a. Have no specific repayment dates,
b. The Company has unconditional right to defer 
payment for more than 12 months,
c. Non-interest bearing, and                                         
d. Can be converted to equity upon compliance with 
regulatory requirements

                  7,279,000                         34,598,840 
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Amount of 
transactions

Outstanding balance Terms and conditions

Year 2017

Advances from shareholders

LTC Real Estate Corporation                   6,233,000                         14,458,625 a. Have no specific repayment dates,
b. The Company has unconditional right to defer 
payment for more than 12 months,
c. Non-interest bearing, and                                         
d. Can be converted to equity upon compliance with 
regulatory requirements

Oliverio G. Laperal, Sr.                                -                           12,861,215 a. Have no specific repayment dates,
b. The Company has unconditional right to defer 
payment for more than 12 months,
c. Non-interest bearing, and                                         
d. Can be converted to equity upon compliance with 
regulatory requirements

                  6,233,000                        27,319,840 

Year 2016

Advances from shareholders

LTC Real Estate Corporation                   6,113,625                           8,225,625 a. Have no specific repayment dates,
b. The Company has unconditional right to defer 
payment for more than 12 months,
c. Non-interest bearing, and                                         
d. Can be converted to equity upon compliance with 
regulatory requirements

Oliverio G. Laperal, Sr.                   1,452,625                         12,861,215 a. Have no specific repayment dates,
b. The Company has unconditional right to defer 
payment for more than 12 months,
c. Non-interest bearing, and                                         
d. Can be converted to equity upon compliance with 
regulatory requirements

                  7,566,250                         21,086,840 

In March 2016, LTC Real Estate Corp., an investor, and the Parent Entity entered into a memorandum 
of agreement for the prospective subscription on the shares of stocks of the Parent Entity at the 
prevailing par value in the amount of Ten Million Pesos (P10,000,000) on or before December 31, 
2016. The said amount shall be considered as a deposit and shall be subject to disposition, transfer and 
recovery by the investor. The Parent Entity has the corresponding duty to hold in trust and/ or return 
the said amount on demand.  
  
As at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Parent Entity has not met all the required conditions to 
account the deposit as deposit for future stock subscription. Thus, the deposit is recognized as 
advances from shareholders under non-current liabilities in the statements of financial position 
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B. OTHER RELATED PARTY- COMMON DIRECTOR

Amount of 
transactions

Outstanding 
balance

Terms Conditions

Year 2018

Rent
    Imperial Development Corporation 635,712             -                     

    Filipinas Golf & Country Club, Inc. 165,092                                    -   (1) Payable every first (1st) day of 
the month.
(2) Sub-lease for a period of one (1) 
year from June 1, 2017 to May 
31,2019. 

(1) In case of failure to pay, 
lease shall be considered 
terminated and the 
Company shall vacate the 
premises.                               

              800,804 -                     

Year 2017

Rent

    Imperial Development Corporation 635,712             -                     

    Filipinas Golf & Country Club, Inc. 147,175                                    -   (1) Payable every first (1st) day of 
the month.
(2) Sub-lease for a period of one (1) 
year from June 1, 2017 to May 
31,2018. This was renewed for 
another year. 

(1) In case of failure to pay, 
lease shall be considered 
terminated and the 
Company shall vacate the 
premises.                               

              782,887                        -   

Year 2016

Rent

    Imperial Development Corporation               635,712                        -   (1) Payable on or before fifth (5th) 
day of each corresponding month.  
(2)Lease for a period of 
one (1) year from January 1, 2016 
to December 31, 2016.
(3)Renewable upon mutual 
agreement before expiration of the 
term of the lease.

(1) In case of default in 
payment, the amount of 
rental due shall bear interest 
at the rate of 25% per 
annum.

    Filipinas Golf & Country Club, Inc. 158,000                                    -   (1) Payable every first (1st) day of 
the month.
(2) Sub-lease for a period of one (1) 
year from January 1, 2016 to 
December 31, 2016.

(1) In case of failure to pay, 
lease shall be considered 
terminated and the 
Company shall vacate the 
premises.                               

              793,712                       -   

(1) Payable on or before fifth (5th) 
day of each corresponding month.  
(2)Lease for a period of 
one (1) year from January 1, 2018 
to December 31, 2018.
(3)Renewable upon mutual 
agreement before expiration of the 
term of the lease.

(1) In case of default in 
payment, the amount of 
rental due shall bear interest 
at the rate of 25% per 
annum.

(1) Payable on or before fifth (5th) 
day of each corresponding month.  
(2)Lease for a period of 
one (1) year from January 1, 2017 
to December 31, 2017.
(3)Renewable upon mutual 
agreement before expiration of the 
term of the lease.

(1) In case of default in 
payment, the amount of 
rental due shall bear interest 
at the rate of 25% per 
annum.
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C. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Amount of transactions Outstanding balance

Year 2018

Short-term employee benefits                                  1,657,652                                              -   

Post-employment benefits                                  2,522,890                                              -   

Year 2017

Short-term employee benefits                                  1,566,201                                              -   

Post-employment benefits                                  2,371,331                                              -   

Year 2016

Short-term employee benefits                                  1,549,299                                              -   

Post-employment benefits                                   2,465,193                                               -   

There were no termination, other long-term benefits and share-based payments granted to the key 
management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. The President/Chief 
Executive Officer and Vice-President/Treasurer (Chief Financial Officer) do not receive salary from 
the Parent Entity. The members of the Board of Directors receive only per diem per attendance in the 
regular and special meeting of the Board and Annual/Special Stockholders Meeting. The total amount 
of per diem paid in 2018, 2017 and 2016 amounts to P195,000, P280,000 and P185,000 (Note 25) 
respectively. 
 
NOTE 20 - SHARE CAPITAL 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary’s share capital consists of:  

2018 2017
Common shares - P1 par value per share

Authorized shares, 1,800,000,000 as at December 31, 2018 1,800,000,000        1,800,000,000        
Subscribed Share Capital 652,500,000           652,500,000           
Less: Subscription Receivable 15,936,454             16,086,454             

Paid up capital 636,563,546         636,413,546           

 
The change of par value from Five Pesos (P5.00) to One Peso (P1.00) and the declassification of 
shares from common Class “A” and Class “B” shares to common stock voting shares were approved 
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by SEC on February 10, 2017 and implemented by Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on February 22, 
2017. 

Shares Amount
Authorized capital 

360,000,000           1,800,000,000
Divided into: 
Class "A" 216,000,000             1,080,000,000
Class "B" 144,000,000             720,000,000

360,000,000           1,800,000,000

Issued and outstanding 
Class "A" 40,132,504               200,662,521
Class "B" 5,956,135                 29,780,674

46,088,639               230,443,195

Subscribed 
Class "A" 38,167,496               190,837,480
Class "B" 46,243,865               231,219,325

84,411,361               422,056,805

130,500,000           652,500,000

2016

 

Amount
Subscription receivable
Class "A" 14,565,960
Class "B" 1,520,494

16,086,454

Total paid up 636,413,546

Paid up 
Class "A" 376,934,041
Class "B" 259,479,505
Total paid up 636,413,546

2016

 
Subscription receivable collected for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2016 amounts to 
P150,000 and P100,436  respectively. There was no collection of subscription receivable for the year 
2017. 
 
Both common class “A” and “B” shares have P5.00 par value with the same rights and privileges, 
except that Common Class “A” shares shall be issued and/or sold only to citizens of the Philippines or 
to Corporation, at least sixty percent (60%) of the capital stock for/of which is owned by citizens of 
the Philippines, while Common Class “B” shares shall be issued and/or sold to any person or 
corporation irrespective of citizenship; provided that a stockholder who is Filipino citizen holding 
Common Class “B” shares shall be entitled at anytime to convert his Common Class “B” shares to 
Common Class “A” shares. 
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The names of the controlling groups/individuals are: 

Number of Percentage  to total
Common Shares Outstanding Shares

1 Laperal, Sr. Oliverio G. 546,552,070          83.76%
2 PCD Nominee, Corporation 33,223,565            5.09%
3 LMI Holdings Corporation 21,905,000            3.36%
4 Olondriz, Marino Y Cia 2,411,095              0.37%
5 Laperal, Desiderio L. 1,670,000              0.26%
6 Laperal, Alexandra L. 1,660,000              0.25%
7 Ganotisi, Filomeno 1,630,000              0.25%

Total subscribed shares of  
controlling groups/individuals 609,051,730          93.34%
Total subscribed shares 652,500,000            100%

As at December 31, 2018

Name

 

Number of Percentage  to total
Common Shares Outstanding Shares

1 Laperal, Sr. Oliverio G. 546,552,070            83.76%
2 PCD Nominee, Corporation 32,971,565              5.05%
3 LMI Holdings Corporation 21,905,000              3.36%
4 Olondriz, Marino Y Cia 2,411,095                0.37%
5 Laperal, Desiderio L. 1,670,000                0.26%
6 Laperal, Alexandra L. 1,660,000                0.25%
7 Ganotisi, Filomeno 1,630,000                0.25%

Total subscribed shares of  
controlling groups/individuals 608,799,730          93.30%
Total subscribed shares 652,500,000            100%

As at December 31, 2017

Name

 

Number of Percentage  to total
Class "A" & "B" Outstanding Shares

1 Laperal, Sr. Oliverio G. 109,310,414          83.76%
2 PCD Nominee, Corporation 6,567,963              5.03%
3 LMI Holdings Corporation 4,381,000              3.36%

Total subscribed shares of  
controlling groups/individuals 120,259,377          92.15%
Total subscribed shares 130,500,000          100%

As at December 31, 2016

Name
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NOTE 21 - EMPLOYEE COSTS 
 
This account consists of: 

Notes 2018 2017 2016
Salaries and wages 25 3,170,328      2,952,700      2,922,087       
SSS, Philhealth and HDMF contributions 25 73,135           73,139           87,640            
Retirement benefits expense 18, 25 333,991         277,194         205,363          

3,577,454      3,303,033      3,215,090       

NOTE 22 - DEPRECIATION 
 
This account consists of: 

Note 2018 2017 2016
Office equipment 16,767             27,503             31,913             
Office furniture and fixture 3,780               3,780               10,949             
Building -                   146,248           146,247           

12, 25 20,547             177,531           189,109           

 
NOTE 23 - FOREIGN CURRENCY-DENOMINATED ASSETS 
 
Dollar denominated assets are as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Asset:

Cash and cash equivalents 45,158$        44,958$         44,761$         
Year end exchange rate 52.724         49.930          49.720          

Peso equivalent 2,380,886    2,244,753    2,225,527      
 

Unrealized gain on foreign exchange credited to operations for the years ended December 31, 2018, 
2017 and 2016 amounted to P125,631, P9,294 and P118,989 (Note 8), respectively. 
 
NOTE 24 - LEASE AGREEMENTS 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary entered into operating lease agreements as follows: 

 
1. The Company entered into an operating lease agreement with Imperial Development 

Corporation (IDC) for a lease of office space at 82-D and 82-J 4th Street, New Manila, Quezon 
City including adjoining room consisting of 26.8 square meters for a period of one (1) year 
from January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016, renewable upon mutual agreement in writing by 
both parties, with a monthly rental of P47,300, exclusive of 12% VAT. The lease was renewed 
in 2018 and 2017 under the same terms, stipulations and conditions. 

 
2. The Company entered into a sub-lease agreement with Filipinas Golf & Country Club, Inc. as 

a sub-lessee for an office space with an area of ten (10) sq. m. more or less located at Unit 202 
Villa Building, No. 78 Jupiter Street corner Makati Avenue, Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City 
for a period of one (1) year with a monthly rate of P6,434 from January 1, 2016 to May 31, 
2016 and P6,690 from June 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016 which includes water bills, parking 
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and association dues. The sub-lease agreement was renewed for another year in 2017 from 
June 1, 2017 to May 31, 2018 with a monthly rental of P6,690. This was further renewed from 
June 1, 2018 to May 31, 2019 with a monthly rental of P7,014. 

 
Total rent expense charged to operations amounts to P800,804, P782,887 and P793,712 (Note 25) for 
the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease are as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Not later than one year 33,317               33,450               -                      

NOTE 25 - ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
  
This account consists of: 

 
Note 2018 2017 2016

Salaries and wages 21 3,170,328           2,952,700           2,922,087           
Rent 24 800,804              782,887              793,712              
Utilities 598,432              514,284              579,251              
Taxes and licenses 494,773              1,709,001           48,721                
Professional fees 416,293              521,600              410,475              
Dues and subscription 380,018              473,913              374,451              
Retirement benefits expense 18, 21 333,991              277,194              205,363              
Security services 204,000              234,000              514,700              
Director fees 19 195,000              280,000              185,000              
Repairs and maintenance 165,401              159,463              209,224              
Transportation and travel 164,009              185,383              187,253              
Supplies and other office expenses 105,540              86,561                163,325              
SSS, Philhealth and HDMF contributions 21 73,135                73,139                87,640                
Insurance 33,054                47,215                27,888                
Depreciation 22 20,547                177,531              189,109              
Bank charges 550                     50                       750                     
Impairment loss on investment in AFS 11 -                          6,910                  -                      
Loss on derecognition of property and equipment -                          -                          3,000                  
Representation and entertainment -                          -                          50,459                
Miscellaneous 284,879              198,423              212,848              

7,440,754           8,680,254           7,165,256           
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NOTE 26 - NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

This account consists of: 

2018 2017 2016
Non-controlling interest net loss for the year (2,194)         (3,991)          (7,373)         
Non-conrolling interest in net assets  (233,016)     (229,025)      (221,652)     

(235,210)     (233,016)      (229,025)     

The non-controlling interest represents one (1%) percent ownership interest of the Subsidiary. 
 
NOTE 27 - BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
The basic earnings per share is computed as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Profit for the year 227,801,712     42,801,712         68,129,779          
Divided by: Weighted average number of common shares 636,551,046       636,413,546         127,282,709         
Basic earnings per share 0.36                  0.07                     0.54                     

The diluted earnings per share is computed as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Profit for the year 227,801,712     41,437,507        68,129,779        
Divided by: Weighted average number of common shares 636,551,046       636,413,546       127,282,709       
                      Number of shares assumed to be purchased 15,948,954       16,086,454        3,217,291          
Total 652,500,000     652,500,000     130,500,000      
Diluted earnings per share 0.35                  0.06                   0.52                   

 
NOTE 28 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Parent Entity and Subsidiary have no impending liabilities, direct claims, contingent liabilities or 
matters in which there is a reasonable possibility of an outcome which might materially affect the 
consolidated financial position or results of operations as at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. 
 
Commitment to Memorandum of Agreement 
 
In accordance with the Parent Entity’s Memorandum of Agreement with PT. INDOMINAS for the 
exclusive rights to do preliminary studies before choosing the area to be developed, if the results of the 
studies are favorable, the Parent Entity shall pay another US$170,000 upon approval of the conversion 
of the selected areas into exploration concession (Note 2). 
 
































